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NPAT - CAGR 15.3%

 Items have been adjusted for “one-off” items including adoption of A-IFRS from 1 April 2004. FY08 revenue and NPAT include 1. 

10 months’ contribution from Integrated Group. The compound annual growth rate of NPAT from 31 March 2000 to 

31 March 2008 was 15.3%, and from 31 March 2000 to 31 March 2007 was 12%.

NPAT is shown pre-amortisation of identifi able intangibles.2. 

- 10th year of consecutive growth in revenue and earnings

- Successful merger with Integrated Group Revenue* Up 163.4%

Year ended 31 March 2008 877.0m

Year ended 31 March 2007 333.0m

EBIT* Up 40.2%

Year ended 31 March 2008 54.4m

Year ended 31 March 2007 38.8m

Net Profi t after Tax* Up 26.9%

Year ended 31 March 2008 28.4m

Year ended 31 March 2007 22.4m

Dividends per Share

Final: 10.5c per share fully franked (payable 24 July 2008) total for the 

2008 year of 20 cents per share fully franked. 

*includes 10 months contribution from Integrated Group Limited.

Growth in Revenues and Profi ts

HIGHLIGHTS
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Workforce
Steady growth continues• 

Opened 8 new branches bringing the total to 52• 

Strong growth in resources industry• 

Successful bolt-on acquisitions of Black & White and Genesis• 

Strong support to other Programmed divisions• 

Revenue $324.1m (10 months contribution)

EBITA $8.7m (10 months contribution)

Property Maintenance
Steady result in Australian Painting • 

Lower margin in New Zealand Painting caused by poor weather and lower productivity• 

Good results in most UK Painting branches with a growth in long-term contracts• 

Signifi cant growth in Australian Building and Grounds Services• 

Increase in clients seeking multi-site property maintenance solutions• 

Revenue $267.1m (up 7.5% from $248.4m)

EBITA $30.3m (down 9.5% from $33.5m)

Results in Brief
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Facilities Management
Strong sales across the business • 

Major contract wins with Rottnest Island and a major • 

Australian petrol retailing company

Major investment in business development lowered returns in • 

FY08 but will produce returns in FY09  

Revenue $76.0m (up 50.3% from $50.5m)

EBITA $2.9m (up 1.6% from $2.9m)

Marine
Signifi cant growth in Australia and New Zealand• 

Major contract successes including a 5 year Prosafe • 

manning contract in New Zealand

Demand outstripping available labour• 

Revenue $169.0m (10 months contribution)

EBITA $12.6m (10 months contribution)

Industrial Services (Barry Bros.)
Subject to fi nal agreement, Programmed will complete the sale of Barry Bros. 

to Tox Free Solutions, on or about 1 July 2008, for $25 million

Revenue $39.7m (up 18.7% from $33.5m)

EBITA $3.0m (up 2.5% from $2.9m)
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Programmed Maintenance Group (PMG) is a provider of staffi ng and maintenance 

services. It operates across four divisions: Property Maintenance, Facilities 

Management, Workforce and Marine. The Group employs more than 12,000 skilled 

and semi-skilled workers, providing staffi ng and maintenance services across a broad 

range of industry sectors including government, commercial, education, oil & gas, 

mining and industrial.

Our Property Maintenance division, Programmed Maintenance Services, provides 

maintenance services to more than 6,000 customers in the commercial, industrial, 

government and educational sectors, operating out of some 60 branches in Australia, 

New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Our Facilities Management division, Tungsten, provides facility and infrastructure 

management services to government and private sector clients across Australia. 

Our Workforce division, Integrated, is a leader in Australia in the supply of 

recruitment and labour hire services across a broad range of industry sectors. Services 

are provided through a network of over 50 branches employing in excess of 7,000 

people daily for clients.

Our Marine division, Total Marine Services, is a major specialist provider of manning, 

project management and logistics solutions to the offshore oil & gas sector in 

Australia and New Zealand.

 Grounds

Painting Engineering Industrial Services

1951 1956 1968 1971 1986 1993 1994

Victoria New South Wales Queensland Western Australia New Zealand Barry Bros.

South Australia

Tasmania

OUR COMPANY
Business Overview

PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE GROUP

Marine
Property 

Maintenance
Workforce

Facilities 
Management
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Marine Engineering & 
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ServicesCorporate 

Imaging
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NZ
Facilities 

Management
Workforce
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United Kingdom Infraserv Tungsten Total Marine SWG*

Integrated

The Programmed business was established in 1951 in Victoria as a commercial 

painting business which, to this day, remains a signifi cant part of the business. 

Programmed listed on the ASX on 1 October 1999. Programmed has increased 

its geographic coverage over the years, fi rst within Australia and then by 

moving into New Zealand in 1986 and later into the United Kingdom through its 

acquisition of Whittle Painting in 2000.

Simultaneously, Programmed has expanded into a range of complementary 

maintenance businesses (such as grounds maintenance, building services and 

facilities management), consistent with its philosophy of providing a skilled 

people-based service for customers.

In June of last year, Programmed completed its merger with Integrated. 

Integrated is one of Australia’s largest suppliers of labour hire having commenced 

in 1992 in Perth, Western Australia and has grown nationally over 16 years. 

The merger with Integrated has created a leading Australian provider of staffi ng 

and maintenance services with total revenues of approximately $877 million for 

the year ended 31 March 2008. Through the merger, Programmed gained access 

to a substantially enlarged workforce, enabling it to expand its offering 

of services and its customer base, as well as gaining access to the resources 

services industry.

PRG
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Brief Corporate History

Our ability to recruit, retain and deploy a large skilled workforce• 

Long term customer relationships and contracts • 

Geographic expansion in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom• 

Industry sector expansion • 

Continued internal improvement• 

Acquisitions that fi t our strategy • 

5

In my 18 years with PMS, the business has offered me fl exibility in career direction and the opportunity to expand my 
skills base. It has been exciting to watch the company grow and diversify over the years, with the recent merger with 
Integrated offering further rewarding opportunities to employees.

                 Peter Moyle, Project Manager - National Contracts,  Property Maintenance, South Australia

The current Group strategy is built around six key drivers:

*Subject to fi nalisation



During the past year, the Programmed Maintenance 

Group has undergone a signifi cant transformation 

following the successful merger with Integrated Group.  

Programmed is now well placed as a leading provider 

of maintenance services across Australia, New Zealand 

and the United Kingdom and staffi ng services 

in Australia.  

Our strategy to diversify the services we offer and 

expand our geographical and industry sector coverage 

will serve shareholders well in these current turbulent 

times as we strive to maintain earnings growth in the 

years ahead.

Your directors have been pleased with the solid 

fi nancial results achieved during this last period. The 

Group’s net profi t after tax increased 27% to $28.4m, 

being the tenth consecutive year of profi t growth, while 

the Group’s revenue more than doubled to $877m.   

Total dividends for the year rose to 20 cents per share 

fully franked, up from 18.5 cents per share in 2006-07.  

The gross operating cashfl ow of the Group increased 

by 83% to $57.1m, refl ecting the inclusion of the 

Integrated businesses.  

In January 2008, Chris Sutherland was appointed 

Managing Director following the retirement of Max 

Findlay.  Chris has articulated a clear and exciting 

future for the Group. We have a new structure to 

refl ect the greater size of the Group, a revitalised senior 

management team, and the proposed acquisition of 

SWG, all in place to continue our long track record of 

consistent earnings growth.

 

The Graduate Programme has enabled me to experience fi rst hand the various aspects 
of the Property Maintenance business. The programme has given me the opportunity to 
familiarise myself further with each of the business units and those people working within 
them. I see this programme as being a benefi cial kick start to my career with the Group.

Matt Davey, Management Graduate, Painting NSW
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On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Max for 

his years of exceptional service to Programmed and 

laying the foundation for the ongoing development 

of the Group.  Max dedicated nearly twenty years to 

Programmed.  With a practical approach to achieving 

outcomes, Max was instrumental in profi tably 

increasing the business’ revenue from $30m to $800m 

and was heavily involved in the successful acquisitions 

and mergers with several other groups including 

Whittle Painting, Serco, Tungsten Group and the recent 

merger with Integrated.  This transaction brought about 

a transformational change to the profi le of the Group 

and has laid the foundations for its future success.

Following the issue of shares as part of the 

consideration for the Integrated merger, Programmed 

now has 90 million shares issued to more than 6,000 

shareholders. Your directors appreciate the support 

of our shareholders, particularly the strong support 

received for the Board’s recommendation to reject the 

recent Spotless takeover offer.

We have entered the new fi nancial year in a strong 

position, with an increasing range of services and a 

larger customer base.

I thank my fellow directors for their contribution 

through the year.  I would also like to thank Max 

Findlay and Chris Sutherland, our management team 

and all our employees for another successful year.

Geoff Tomlinson

Chairman

25 June 2008

CHAIRMAN’S

Working for Integrated has given me a great opportunity to pursue a challenging 
and rewarding career in the recruitment industry. The merger and associated change 
management process was handled delicately & professionally ensuring minimal disruption 
to business operations and our working lives. 
                               The people with whom I interact across the different divisions are 
great & are dynamically shaping the evolving culture of the company.

           Lisa Akeroyd, National Account Manager, Integrated

PRG
 Annual Report 2008
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I was honoured to commence as Managing Director on 

21 January 2008 and excited about the opportunities 

to develop the business further. In my fi rst two months 

I toured much of the operation across Australia, New 

Zealand and the United Kingdom. I was impressed to 

meet many people in various offi ce and fi eld locations 

who have worked for the company for 10, 20, even 

30 plus years…all very loyal to the company and 

committed to serving the customer.

Programmed  has a strong track record of consistent 

earnings growth over many years. This has been 

achieved through:

a focus on long-term customer relationships• 

geographic expansion, and • 

diversifi cation of services • 

At the core of our business model is the deployment of 

a skilled or semi-skilled person to undertake a task or 

provide a service. Through the merger with Integrated 

Group, we now have one of the largest labour sourcing 

capabilities in Australia in a tight labour market.

Successful Merger 
with Integrated Group
The key highlight for the year was the successful 

completion of the merger with Integrated Group. The 

merger has transformed the company by:

providing signifi cant access to a large skilled and • 

semi-skilled workforce (total fi eld employees now 

in excess of 12,000)

added new marine manning and labour hire • 

businesses with large exposure to the oil & gas 

and mining markets across Australia and New 

Zealand

creating scale to improve the back offi ce • 

administration and support functions

creating a platform for further growth across • 

Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom

The merger was achieved without loss of key staff. 

New career opportunities across a larger group have 

provided additional benefi ts for many employees. 

In recognising the new size and breadth of the 

Group, the Group has been restructured along four 

core complementary business activities: Property 

Maintenance, Facilities Management, Workforce and 

Marine. Each division has its own CEO, management 

team and strategy to grow. Shared services to 

provide common Payroll, Insurances and Information 

Technology to all divisions has been established 

providing both real cost savings and improved services.

Revenue for the year was $877m, an increase of 163% 

on the previous year while EBITA rose by 46% to 

$57.5m, enhanced by the 10 month contribution from 

Integrated Group. Profi t after Tax (pre-amortisation) 

was $31.5m up 37.9% whilst earnings per share was 

36.5 cents (pre-amortisation) up 13.4%.

This solid result was supported by strong results from 

Marine, offset to some degree by lower results from 

New Zealand Painting within the Property Maintenance 

division due to poor weather and lower productivity.

Strategic Initiatives
Programmed has developed an updated, clear and 

simple strategy to grow staffi ng and maintenance 

services across most industry sectors and throughout 

Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. It has 

recently announced a number of strategic initiatives in 

support of this strategy.

The proposed acquisition of SWG is due to be 

completed on or about 1 July 2008. SWG is a Western 

Australian based services company specialising in 

the provision of installation, minor capital works and 

maintenance services to the oil & gas and mining 

sectors and complements our existing capabilities in 

the Workforce and Marine divisions. The acquisition will 

make a solid contribution to the Company’s earnings 

in the 2009 fi nancial year and form the base from 

which further growth is planned in the provision of 

maintenance and minor capital works to the oil & gas 

and mining sectors.

It has been decided that Barry Bros., our industrial 

services business no longer fi ts our updated strategy 

as it is capital intensive and whose earnings are 

highly reliant upon specialist truck utilisation. Subject 

to fi nal agreement, Barry Bros. is to be sold to Tox 

Free Solutions on or about 1 July 2008 for $25m. 

In addition, Total Harbour Services a small harbour 

towage business that had operated as a small 

subsidiary of our much larger marine manning business 

was sold to a private buyer for $4m.

The combination of the SWG acquisition and sale of 

Barry Bros., if both completed, will be earnings per 

share accretive in FY09 and signifi cantly strengthen our 

balance sheet.

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S

Our new business model is 
robust in its diversity of our 
operations across four operating 
divisions: Property Maintenance,       
Facilities Management, 
       Workforce and Marine.
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Health, Safety and Environment
We continue to work hard and strive towards our goal 

of achieving Zero Harm. We have achieved a signifi cant 

reduction in our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate.

Visible leadership and safety behaviour from all staff is 

a cornerstone to our ongoing improvement. We have 

rolled out a programme in one of our divisions called 

“Safety Conversations” where at frequent intervals, 

all offi ce based management must visit work sites and 

discuss safety issues with our fi eld based employees. 

This has proven to be a great success and further use 

of this programme is planned across the Group.  

Our People
The impact of a merger of two companies can be both 

challenging and rewarding for employees. It is pleasing 

that we retained all key staff throughout the process. 

We now have a revised management structure which 

has created new opportunities for key staff to accept 

greater responsibilities within each division.

We have rolled out eRecruitment and online learning 

across the Group to ensure all employees can fi nd 

new opportunities and better career paths. We have 

recognised the need to provide greater support 

for parents having children and we have recently 

introduced paid maternity leave of up to 13 weeks pay. 

A tightening labour market produced its share of 

challenges around attraction and retention but the 

fl exibility and expertise of our Workforce division in 

sourcing and supplying candidates, particularly in the 

blue collar industry, has greatly assisted the business 

with this challenge. 

Looking Forward 
Programmed’s plan for further growth is based 

around our ability to recruit and deploy a large skilled 

workforce, maintain long-term customer relationships, 

provide a range of complementary and value adding 

services, expand geographically, improve our internal 

systems and processes and identify and make 

acquisitions that fi t this strategy. 

We have built a business that is insulated from some of 

the external factors that are causing concern for other 

businesses. We have a base of earnings underpinned 

by long-term painting programmes with many schools 

in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. 

We have large operations in very strong markets in 

oil & gas and mining sectors which are continuing to 

fl ourish. Our most signifi cant Workforce operations are 

in Western Australia and Queensland where demand 

continues to grow and skill shortages are the largest. 

We are buying a minor capital works/maintenance 

business servicing the many billions of dollars of 

new and existing oil & gas and mining assets in 

Western Australia. We have a large skilled workforce, 

which remains in short supply, servicing the varied 

maintenance needs of the education, retirement and 

infrastructure sectors.

Thus we are confi dent about our ability to continue 

to grow our earnings, consistent with the strong track 

record of the past ten years.

I would like to thank our staff, our customers, and our 

shareholders for supporting the company through a 

merger with Integrated Group and more recently for 

supporting the Board in its recommendation to reject 

the unsolicited Spotless takeover offer.

Chris Sutherland

Managing Director

25 June 2008

PRG
 Annual Report 2008
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman
Chairman Since: 1999
Offi ce Expires: August 2009
Age: 60

Appointed Chairman in August 1999, Mr Tomlinson is 

also a director of the National Australia Bank Limited 

and Amcor Limited. Mr Tomlinson holds a Bachelor of 

Economics from the University of Western Australia. 

Mr Tomlinson is an independent Director and his term 

of offi ce expires in August 2009.

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years:

Chairman of Funtastic Limited (resigned May 2006) 

and Dyno Nobel Limited (resigned 16 June 2008), 

Deputy Chairman of Hansen Technologies Limited 

(resigned February 2006) and Director of Mirrabooka 

Investments Limited (resigned March 2006).

Chris Sutherland  
Managing Director
Director Since: 2008
Age: 44

Chris Sutherland was appointed Managing Director of 

Programmed in December 2007 and commenced in 

the position on 21 January 2008. Mr Sutherland had 

been the Chief Executive of Integrated (which merged 

with Programmed in June 2007) since February 2006 

and prior to this appointment was Executive director, 

Asset Services for WorleyParsons.  He is an experienced 

executive who has held senior management positions 

in different engineering, maintenance and contracting 

businesses with operations in Australia, Asia, Europe 

and the USA.   He holds a Bachelor of Engineering 

(UWA) and completed the Advanced Management 

Program at Harvard Business School in 2001.  

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years:

Integrated Group Limited

Susan Oliver
Non-Executive Director
Director Since: 1999
Offi ce Expires: August 2010
Age: 57

A Non-Executive Director since August 1999, Ms 

Oliver also holds non-executive directorships with 

Transurban Group Limited and Just Group Limited.  

She has extensive professional experience in strategy, 

marketing, technology and scenario planning and 

currently runs her own consulting and advisory practice 

in these areas.  Ms Oliver has a Bachelor of Property & 

Construction from Melbourne University and is a Fellow 

of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  

Ms. Oliver is an independent director and her term of 

offi ce expires in August 2010.

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years: 

Nil

Geoff Tomlinson•  Chairman

Chris Sutherland•  Managing Director

Susan Oliver•  Non-executive Director

Brian Pollock • Non-executive Director

Jonathan Whittle•  Non-executive Director

Neil Hamilton•  Non-executive Director
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Looking back on my time at Integrated 
                         over the last six years I am surprised that I have gotten to where I am. I have loved every minute of 
working at Integrated, the people, the opportunities, the classic moments and laughter I have lived day to day. I look 
forward to another six years.
                                  Belinda Sicura, Branch Manager: Footscray, Integrated

Brian Pollock 
Non-Executive Director
Director Since: 1999
Offi ce Expires: August 2008
Age: 62

A Non-Executive Director since August 1999, Mr 

Pollock has over 30 years experience in the fi nance and 

property industry with the AMP Society and National 

Mutual.  He is chairman of Clive Peeters Limited, 

Becton Property Group Limited, A.E. Smith & Son Pty. 

Ltd. and Macquarie Real Estate Equity Funds Pty Ltd 

Group of Companies.  He is also a director of Industry 

Super Holdings Pty. Ltd. Members Equity Bank Pty. Ltd. 

Industry Funds Management Pty. Ltd and associated 

companies.  He is a Fellow of the Australian Property 

Institute and a Senior Associate of the Australian and 

New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance.  He 

was National President of the Property Council of 

Australia in 1993 and 1994. 

Mr. Pollock is an independent director and his term of 

offi ce expires in August 2008.

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years: 

Nil

Jonathan Whittle
Non-Executive Director
Director Since: 2007
Offi ce Expires: August 2010
Age: 53

A Non-Executive Director since June 2007, Mr Whittle 

was the Managing Director of Integrated from the 

time of Integrated’s formation in November 1992 until 

February 2006 when he retired from his executive role 

and became a non-executive director of Integrated.  He 

has extensive experience in the recruitment industry, 

having worked and then managed the West Australian 

operations of a multinational recruitment agency prior 

to establishing Integrated Workforce.

Mr Whittle is an independent Director and his term of 

offi ce expires in August 2010.

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years:

Integrated Group Limited and Olea Australis Limited

Neil Hamilton
Non-Executive Director
Director Since: 2007
Offi ce Expires: August 2010
Age: 56

A Non-Executive Director since June 2007, Mr Hamilton 

has substantial experience in a number of industries 

including insurance and resources.  He is chairman 

of IRESS Market Technology Limited, Mt Gibson Iron 

Limited and Northern Iron Ltd, and a director of 

Insurance Australia Group Ltd and Metcash Limited.  

He is also chairman of the AFL Players Association 

Advisory Board.  

Mr Hamilton is an independent Director and his term of 

offi ce expires in August 2010.

Previous directorships of listed companies within the 

last three years:

Director of Integrated Group Limited
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The Property Maintenance division achieved revenue 

growth of 13%, however unusual weather and lower 

productivity in the New Zealand Painting business 

resulted in an overall EBIT decline of 9%. Australian 

Painting, United Kingdom Painting and Building and 

Grounds Services all produced solid results. Efforts are 

underway to improve utilisation during wet periods 

across Australia and New Zealand. The strength of our 

multi-site property maintenance solution using our own 

skilled workforce has been highlighted by our recent 

win to undertake certain maintenance works at Coles 

supermarkets across Australia.

Mark Piwkowski
CEO 

Property Maintenance

‘Our ability to seamlessly deploy our own skilled workforce across multi-sites in all major cities and towns across Australia 
and New Zealand is a unique service offering, especially in a tight employment market’  

                Mark Piwkowski, CEO Property Maintenance Services

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Property Maintenance
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The Facilities Management division performed 

strongly securing key long-term contracts, including 

maintenance of the Rottnest Island infrastructure for 

the Rottnest Island Authority in Western Australia and 

a national facilities management contract for a major 

Australian petrol retailer. Development costs associated 

with expansion of the business lowered overall margin 

this year, however this investment will provide the basis 

of stronger returns in future years.Steve Taylor
CEO 

Facilities Management

PRG
 Annual Report 2008

‘FY08 proved highly successful for Tungsten, culminating in a number of new long-term contracts. We have 
been able to introduce new key management into the business that will support major growth in earnings in 
the next 12 months.
    Steve Taylor, CEO Tungsten Group  

Facilities Management
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The Workforce division had another solid year, 

consistent with the favourable conditions of a tight 

labour market. Continued branch expansion and strong 

growth in Western Australia and Queensland was the 

basis of this strong result and further growth, particular 

in these two states is expected to continue. A branch 

network of 52 offi ces across Australia not only supports 

local clients but increasingly identifi es new skilled and 

semi-skilled employees that can work in other locations 

across Australia on a fl y in / fl y out basis. Our capability 

to recruit employees from other countries has been 

enhanced, and we now have more than 100 employees 

working for the Group under the 457 Immigration 

Visa Program.

‘This has been an exceptional year for the Workforce business as we continued to create opportunities for our people 
via branch expansion. We successfully acquired two recruitment businesses, Black & White and Genesis, and grew 
further into the mining sector. Expanding geographically throughout Western Australia, Queensland and South 
Australia meant another year of record sales and earnings.’ 

 Brian Styles, CEO Integrated

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Brian Styles
CEO 

Workforce

Workforce
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The Marine division had an outstanding year driven 

by strong activity in the offshore oil & gas sector. The 

business is one of only a few major providers of vessel 

manning and management services to the offshore oil 

& gas industry in Australia and New Zealand. Highlights 

included the securing of a 5 year contract to man a 

fl oating production storage and offl oading vessel in 

New Zealand. Favourable conditions in this market are 

expected to continue and the training of new people 

to meet increasing demand is a key component of our 

current strategy.

PRG
 Annual Report 2008

‘Driven by higher oil prices, we have never seen greater demand for our services’. 

       Glenn Triggs, CEO Total Marine Services

Glenn Triggs
CEO 

Marine

Marine
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Programmed is committed to contributing to the 

community at a local level across all parts of its 

operation.  Building community partnerships is 

an important task and is achieved by supporting 

local sporting and social clubs, providing regional 

employment and training opportunities and providing 

special assistance to the disadvantaged.

Our community initiatives include fi nancial and material 

donations, sponsorships, service provision, fundraising 

activities and employees volunteering their time.

During the year Programmed supported a number of 

programmes and initiatives including:

PMS Foundation• 

 The Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation’s • 

(JDRF) ‘Walk to Cure Diabetes’ 

 The Leukaemia Foundation• 

 Frankston City Youth Arts Programme• 

 The Children’s Westmead Hospital• 

 West Australian State Emergency Services• 

PMS Foundation
The PMS Foundation was initially established in 1974 

to provide support to physically and intellectually 

challenged children and adolescent people throughout 

Australia.  Since that time, the PMS Foundation 

has donated over $1.5 million to many worthwhile 

charitable organisations.  The Foundation identifi es 

needs on a national basis as well as providing 

assistance in response to specifi c requests.  

For the past three years, the Foundation has donated 

the value of preparing gardens for display homes 

that have been auctioned by the The Royal Children’s 

Hospital in Melbourne. Donations have been made 

during the 2008 fi nancial year to the Leukaemia 

Foundation, Deaf and Blind Association, Reach, Kids 

Under Cover, the Diabetes Foundation, and many 

other charities providing services to physically and 

intellectually challenged children and youth.

The ongoing support of the Foundation, on behalf 

of shareholders and staff, provides a measure of 

recognition to those people dedicated to the loving 

care of those in our society who need that extra 

bit of assistance.

JDRF Walk to Cure
Australia has one of the highest diabetes rates in 

the world, with Type 1 diabetes affecting more than 

100,000 young Australians. It is JDRF’s mission to fi nd 

a cure for diabetes through the support of research. 

Having been involved with the JDRF Walk to Cure 

Diabetes for the past fi ve years, 2007 provided the 

fi rst opportunity for the business to participate as a 

signifi cantly larger group following the merger with 

Integrated Group. This exciting event brought together 

employees from each of the four business divisions 

joining thousands of other Australian’s participating on 

the day. The Group was pleased to donate $20 to each 

employee walking on the day, assisting in raising a 

total of $18,375.65 going towards fi nding a cure.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
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The Leukaemia Foundation
The Leukaemia Foundation is the only national not-

for-profi t organisation dedicated to patients and their 

families living with leukaemia, lymphomas, myeloma 

and related blood disorders. Its support extends across 

metropolitan, regional and rural communities investing 

millions into vital research, care and assistance.

The Property Maintenance division’s Corporate 

Imaging West Australian team this year was given 

an opportunity to assist the Foundation’s children 

transport vehicles initiative. These cars are used by 

volunteers to transport children to and from the 

hospital for their treatments. Through their relationship 

with Bridgestone, the Corporate Imaging team assisted 

through the provision of their services, re-imaging the 

Holden Commodores with a Bridgestone Racing 

style layout.

Programmed also participated in The Leukaemia 

Foundation’s World’s Greatest Shave.

City of Frankston Youth Arts 
Programme – Hip Cat Circus
In 2005 in conjunction with the Frankston Arts Centre, 

our Facilities Management division, Tungsten, designed 

an innovative project for young people to develop 

their skills, self esteem and confi dence, as well as 

portray their vision to the community. The programme 

involved a photographic workshop and photography 

week which captured responses to Frankston as a 

community. Following this success the programme 

was extended to include a project entitled Hip Cat 

Circus. This involved the participation of youth from 

the local area in a series of workshops centered on 

providing life skills and building self esteem through 

the development of physical acrobatics/circus 

type activities. 

The Australian Business Arts Foundation’s (AbaF) Arts 

Connecting Communities programme is supported 

by national principle partner, Toyota. Through this 

support the Hip Cat Circus project has been running 

for three consecutive years, each with Tungsten’s 

continued involvement. As recognition of Tungsten’s 

contribution to the Frankston community they were 

nominated by the Frankston Arts Centre for the AbaF 

Toyota Community Award recognising business and 

community partnerships. Winning the Victorian State 

Award in 2005, this year Tungsten received the Good 

Practice Recognition which acknowledges programmes 

that demonstrate good practice.

The Children’s Hospital at Westmead
The Children’s Hospital at Westmead is the largest 

paediatric centre in NSW caring for some 50,000 sick 

children and their families each year. In September 

2007, the Workforce division, Integrated, presented a 

cheque for $40,000 to the Hospital. The decision to 

donate the money was natural said CEO Brian Styles, 

‘many of Integrated’s staff have young families, so 

there has been a strong backing within our company to 

support the Hospital.’   

West Australian State 
Emergency Services
For the past two years our Marine division, 

Total Marine Services, has provided sponsorship to 

‘Operation Hydro’, a programme designed to re-hydrate 

West Australian State Emergency Service (SES) crews by 

providing free bottled water in emergency situations. 

The West Australian SES responds to emergency 

situations related to fi re, fl ood, cyclone and storm. 

They provide personnel for search and rescue, fi re 

fi ghting and work closely with police and St Johns 

Ambulance. Providing bottled water to volunteer 

SES crew is a community initiative we take a lot of 

pride in supporting. 

We are very grateful for the support and incredible generosity shown by Integrated and know that their staff can feel 
very proud in the knowledge that they are making a direct difference to lives of children and their families 
in NSW and beyond’ 

Gilly Paxton, Director of Community Relations & Marketing, The Children’s Hospital at Westmead
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
The directors of Programmed Maintenance Services 

Limited (“the Company”) submit herewith the annual 

fi nancial report for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 

2008. In order to comply with the Corporations Act 

2001, the directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS
The names of the directors of the Company during or 

since the end of the fi nancial year are: 

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson  Chairman

Christopher Glen Sutherland  Managing Director

Susan Mary Oliver  Non-Executive Director

Brian John Pollock  Non-Executive Director

Neil Douglas Hamilton  Non-Executive Director

Jonathan Gladstone Whittle  Non-Executive Director

All of the above named directors held offi ce during and 

since the end of the fi nancial year, except for:-

- N. D. Hamilton was appointed on 8 June 2007

- J. G. Whittle was appointed on 8 June 2007

- M. J. Findlay resigned on 18 January 2008

- C. G. Sutherland was appointed on 21 January 2008

Particulars of the directors, including directorships of 

other listed companies are shown on page 10/11 of 

this annual report. In accordance with the company’s 

constitution, Mr. B. J. Pollock will retire as a director at 

the 2008 Annual General Meeting, and is eligible to offer 

himself for re-election. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Following the merger by scheme of arrangement with 

Integrated Group Limited on 7 June 2007 (refer below 

in the “Changes in State of Affairs”), the consolidated 

entity has become a substantial provider of staffi ng and 

maintenance services and operates in four divisions: 

Property Maintenance, Facilities Management, Workforce 

and Marine.

The Property Maintenance division currently provides 

maintenance services in respect of more than 60,000 

buildings and structures for over 6,000 customers in 

the commercial, industrial, government and educational 

sectors in Australia, New Zealand and the United 

Kingdom. The Property Maintenance division has 35 

branches in Australia, 14 branches in New Zealand and 9 

branches in the United Kingdom.

The Facilities Management division provides facility 

and infrastructure management services in addition to 

consulting services in the fi elds of facilities management, 

procurement and strategic asset management, with 

customers across Australia.

The Workforce division is a leader in Australia in the 

supply of recruitment and labour hire services across a 

broad range of sectors. Services are provided through 

a network of over 50 branches employing in excess of 

7,000 people daily for clients.

The Marine division is a major specialist provider 

of manning, project management and logistics solutions 

to the offshore oil and gas sector in Australia and 

New Zealand.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The net amount of profi t of the consolidated entity for 

the fi nancial year after income tax expense was $28,422 

thousand (2007: $22,399 thousand). A detailed review 

of the operations of the consolidated entity is contained 

in the Chairman’s Letter, the Managing Director’s Review 

and the Review of Operations in this annual report.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
As advised in the 2007 Annual Report, the Company 

and Integrated Group Limited (“Integrated”) announced 

a proposal to merge the two companies by way of a 

scheme of arrangement (“the Scheme”) in February 

2007. The Scheme was approved at a meeting of 

Integrated shareholders held on 10 May 2007. Following 

various regulatory requirements, Integrated and its 

subsidiaries effectively became part of the consolidated 

entity on 7 June 2007.

On 7 June 2007, the Company paid the Scheme 

consideration of $1.25 in cash and 0.26 of the 

Company’s fully paid ordinary share for each Integrated 

share. This resulted in a total payment of $90,500 

thousand and the issue of 18.8 million shares to former 

Integrated shareholders. To fund the cash component of 

the Scheme consideration and to refi nance the existing 

debt of the consolidated entity, the consolidated entity 

entered into an unsecured loan facility with Westpac 

Banking Corporation that expires in May 2010.

The size and composition of the fi nancial statements 

of the consolidated entity has materially changed since 

the previous fi nancial year, with the 2008 fi nancial 

statements showing annual revenue of $877,034 

thousand (previously $332,999 thousand), total assets 

of $692,974 thousand (previously $340,179 thousand), 

total intangible assets of $299,939 thousand (previously 

$16,488 thousand) and total borrowings of $235,336 

thousand (previously $96,729 thousand).

Apart from the above and the items referred to below 

in “Subsequent Events”, there has not been any matter 

or circumstance, other than that referred to in the 

fi nancial statements or notes thereto, that has arisen 

since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly 

affected, or may signifi cantly affect, the operations of 

the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, 

or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future 

fi nancial years.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 27 March 2008, Spotless Group Limited (“Spotless”), 

through its wholly owned subsidiary Spotless Investment 

Holdings Pty Ltd, announced its intention to make an 

offer for all of the shares it did not already own in the 

Company. Spotless issued an original Bidder’s Statement 

on 2 April 2008, followed by a supplementary Bidder’s 

Statement on 18 April 2008.

In its ASX announcement released on 16 April 2008, 

the Company’s Board of Directors unanimously 

recommended that the Company’s shareholders reject 

the Spotless offer. In the Target’s Statement issued on 7 

May 2008, the Board explained in detail the reasons for 

the recommendation to reject the offer.

The closing date of the offer was originally 26 May 2008, 

and this was extended by Spotless on 19 May 2008 

to close on 13 June 2008. On 6 June 2008, Spotless 

advised that the offer would lapse on 13 June 2008. 

The Company currently expects that the total costs 

incurred in responding to the Spotless offer will be 

approximately $4 million.

On 16 April 2008, the Company announced a number 

of new initiatives that are focused on continuing the 

Company’s strong track record of earnings growth while 

expanding its range of services.

The Company has signed a non-binding Heads of 

Agreement to acquire SWG, a Western Australian 

based services company specialising in the provision 

of installation, minor capital works and maintenance 

services to the oil and gas and mining sectors. 

Headquartered in Bunbury with an offi ce in Perth, 

SWG provides services in Australia and Asia. 

The proposed acquisition of SWG will further expand 

the Company’s existing capabilities in both its Marine 

and Workforce divisions.

Consideration for the acquisition is approximately 

$7.5 million of the Company’s ordinary shares, and 

the acquisition is subject to completion of the Share 

Purchase Agreement. No issues have arisen to date to 

suggest the acquisition will not be completed within 

the timescale contemplated. Further performance 

consideration will be paid, in the form of the Company’s 

ordinary shares, if average EBITA over the next three 

years exceeds $10 million. SWG is projected to earn 

$10 million in EBITA in the fi nancial year ending 

31 March 2009.

In addition to the proposed acquisition of SWG, 

the Company entered into a non-binding Heads 
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of Agreement for the sale of the industrial services 

business, Barry Bros., to Tox Free Solutions Limited 

for $25 million, with completion targeted for 1 July 

2008. The proceeds of the divestment will be used 

to reduce the Company’s borrowings.

The Company has, since the end of the fi nancial year, 

entered into an interest rate swap transaction with the 

Westpac Banking Corporation to mitigate the risk of 

rising interest rates.

Apart from the above, there has not been any matter 

or circumstance, other than that referred to in the 

fi nancial statements or notes thereto, that has arisen 

since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly 

affected, or may signifi cantly affect, the operations of 

the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, 

or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future 

fi nancial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments 

in the operations of the consolidated entity in future 

fi nancial years and the expected results of those 

operations, other than described above, is likely to result 

in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. 

Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in 

this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The consolidated entity aims to achieve a high standard 

on environmental matters, and has established 

procedures to be followed should an incident occur 

which has the potential to adversely impact the 

environment. During the fi nancial year:

•  licenses were renewed and taken out as and when 

required by environmental authorities; and

•  the directors have not received notifi cation nor are 

they aware of any breaches of environmental laws by 

the consolidated entity.

DIVIDENDS
In respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007, as 

detailed in the directors’ report for that fi nancial year, a 

fi nal dividend of $9,001 thousand (10.0 cents per share), 

franked to 100% at the 30% corporate tax rate, was 

paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 26 

July 2007.

In respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2008, 

an interim dividend of $8,551 thousand (9.5 cents per 

share), franked to 100% at the 30% corporate tax rate, 

was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 

24 January 2008.

In respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2008, 

the directors declared a fi nal dividend of $9,451 

thousand (10.5 cents per share), franked to 100% at the 

30% corporate tax rate, payable to the holders of fully 

paid ordinary shares on 24 July 2008.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS
During the fi nancial year, the company paid a premium 

in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the 

company (as named above), the company secretaries, 

Messrs I. H. Jones and S. M. Leach, and executive offi cers 

of the company and of any related body corporate 

against a liability incurred as such a director, company 

secretary or executive offi cer to the extent permitted by 

the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance 

prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the 

amount of the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the 

fi nancial year, indemnifi ed or agreed to indemnify an 

offi cer or auditor of the company or of any related body 

corporate against a liability incurred as such an offi cer 

or auditor.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The following table sets out the number of directors’ 

meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) 

held during the fi nancial year and the number of 

meetings attended by each director (while they were 

a director or committee member). During the fi nancial 

year, 11 board meetings, 4 audit compliance and risk 

management committee meetings, 2 nomination and 

remuneration committee meetings and 2 other board 

committee meetings were held.

* -  Susan Oliver was unable to attend a Board meeting 

that was called at short notice.

Board of 
Directors

Audit Compliance 
& Risk 

Management 
Committee

Nomination & 
Remuneration 

Committee

Other Board 
Committees

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

G. A. Tomlinson 11 11 2 2 2 2 1 1

M. J. Findlay 9 9 - - - - 2 2

C. G. Sutherland 2 2 - - - - - -

N. D. Hamilton 8 8 2 2 - - - -

S. M. Oliver 11 10* 4 4 - - - -

B. J. Pollock 11 11 4 4 2 2 2 1

J. G. Whittle 8 8 - - 2 2 - -
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UNISSUED SHARES RELATING TO PERFORMANCE 
OPTIONS AND PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

During the fi nancial year, performance options and performance rights were approved 

by the Board of Directors for issue to the Managing Director and executives of the 

Company as set out in the table below. No performance options or performance rights 

were granted to non-executive directors.

Note 1   The tranches of performance rights PR-2, PR-3 and PR-4, and performance options PO-1, PO-2 

and PO-3 were approved by the Board as part of the Executive Service Agreement 

of the Managing Director, who commenced in that role on 21 January 2008. The ASX 

Listing Rules require the Managing Director’s long term incentive arrangements to be 

subject to approval by the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting, which is 

due to be held on 8 August 2008. The company has expensed the proportionate cost of the 

performance rights and performance options based on the estimated fair value at grant date 

from 21 January 2008, being the commencement date of the Managing Director’s service in 

that role.

The performance options and performance rights were approved for issue to the 

executives of the Company in accordance with the Long Term Incentive Plan introduced 

in May 2007. The performance options and performance rights were approved for issue 

to the Managing Director on terms similar to those which apply under the Long Term 

Incentive Plan. In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, the Managing Director’s long 

term incentive arrangements will be subject to approval by the shareholders at the 

2008 Annual General Meeting.

Each performance option converts into one fully paid ordinary share in the Company 

upon the payment of the applicable exercise price at the time of exercise. No amounts 

are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of a performance option. Each 

performance right converts upon exercise into one fully paid ordinary share 

in the Company. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of 

a performance right.

Performance options have a vesting date that is three years from the date of issue, 

and may be exercised at any time within twelve months from the date of vesting. 

Performance rights have vesting dates that are three to fi ve years from the date of 

issue, and may be exercised at any time within twelve months from the date of vesting. 

Both performance rights and performance options carry neither rights to dividends nor 

voting rights.

Due to the lapsing of some performance rights, the number of unvested performance 

rights outstanding at 31 March 2008 was 939,304. The number of unvested 

performance options outstanding at 31 March 2008 was 2,900,000.

Number 
Granted

Grant Date Vesting 

Date

Expiry Date Exercise 
Price 

$

Fair Value at 
Grant Date 

$

Performance Rights

Tranche PR-1

Tranche PR-2

Tranche PR-3

Tranche PR-4

Tranche PR-5

Tranche PR-6

Tranche PR-7

 

Note 1 

Note 1 

Note 1 

691,591 

60,000 

60,000 

60,000 

54,750

54,750

68,000

22/06/2007 

08/08/2008 

08/08/2008 

08/08/2008 

12/03/2008 

12/03/2008 

12/03/2008

1/07/2010 

21/01/2011 

21/01/2012 

21/01/2013 

11/03/2011 

11/03/2012 

11/03/2013

30/06/2011 

21/01/2012 

21/01/2013 

21/01/2014 

11/03/2012 

11/03/2013 

11/03/2014

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3.35 

3.69

3.56

3.45

3.12

3.01

2.92

Total Performance 
Rights 1,049,091

Performance Options

Tranche PO-1

Tranche PO-2

Tranche PO-3

Tranche PO-4

Tranche PO-5

Tranche PO-6

Note 1

Note 1

Note 1

150,000

150,000

150,000

763,000

763,000

924,000

08/08/2008 

08/08/2008

08/08/2008

12/03/2008

12/03/2009 

12/03/2010

21/01/2011 

21/01/2012 

21/01/2013 

11/03/2011 

11/03/2012 

11/03/2013

21/01/2012 

21/01/2013 

21/01/2014 

11/03/2012 

11/03/2013 

11/03/2014

4.82 

5.05 

5.71 

4.80

5.13

5.80

0.82

1.04

1.18

0.71

1.06

1.20

Total Performance 
Options 2,900,000
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Under the terms of the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan, performance rights and 

performance options may be exercised if a takeover bid is made to the Company’s 

shareholders and the Board of Directors gives a notice to the holders of the 

performance rights and performance options.

In addition, if at any time up to the fi fth anniversary of the allocation of performance 

rights and options the issued share capital of the Company becomes the subject of a 

takeover bid or scheme of arrangement and the bid is accepted or the scheme proceeds 

with shareholder and regulatory approval, or the subject of an arrangement which 

passes control of 51% or more of the share capital, then the Board of Directors have an 

obligation to apply their best endeavours to negotiate a transition to an alternate plan 

that they assess as being no less favourable than the existing Long Term Incentive Plan.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares, performance 

options and performance rights in the Company at the date of this report:

REMUNERATION REPORT
This Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors’ Report, sets out 

the information about the remuneration of the Company’s and the consolidated 

entity’s key management personnel for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2008. 

The prescribed details for each person covered by this report are detailed below 

under the following headings:-

details of key management personnel• 

remuneration policy for key management personnel• 

 relationship between the remuneration policy and company performance• 

remuneration of key management personnel• 

key terms of employment contracts• 

1. Details of key management personnel

The term “key management personnel” is used in this report to refer to the following 

persons, who held their current position for the whole of the fi nancial year and since 

the end of the fi nancial year, except as noted:-

G. A. Tomlinson (Chairman, Non-executive director)• 

C. G. Sutherland (Managing Director) – appointed on 21 January 2008 • 1

M. J. Findlay (Managing Director) – retired 18 January 2008• 

S. M. Oliver (Non-executive director)• 

B. J. Pollock (Non-executive director)• 

N. D. Hamilton (Non-executive director) – appointed on 8 June 2007• 

J. G. Whittle (Non-executive director) – appointed on 8 June 2007• 

I. H. Jones (Company Secretary) • 2

S. M. Leach (Chief Financial Offi cer) • 3

M. P. Piwkowski (Chief Executive Offi cer, Property Maintenance) • 2

J. Sherlock (Group General Manager, Human Resources) • 2

B. Styles (Chief Executive Offi cer, Workforce) • 3

S. Taylor (Chief Executive Offi cer, Facilities Management) • 3

G. Triggs (Chief Executive Offi cer, Marine) • 3

Notes 

 Chris Sutherland was previously the Chief Executive Offi cer of Integrated Group Limited, and 1. 
became a member of the key management personnel of the Company from the time of the merger 
on 7 June 2007. Following his appointment as Managing Director on 21 January 2008, Chris 
Sutherland initiated a revised divisional structure and executive management team.

 These executives have been members of the key management personnel of the Company for the 2. 
whole fi nancial year, although there have been some changes to their roles following the revised 
divisional structure in January 2008.

 These executives became members of the key management personnel of the Company from the 3. 
time of the merger with Integrated Group Limited on 7 June 2007. Since then, these executives 
have continued to be members of the key management personnel, although there have been some 
changes to their roles following the revised divisional structure in January 2008.

2. Remuneration policy for key management personnel

Non-executive director fees are set by the Board Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee within the maximum aggregate directors’ remuneration limit of $575 

thousand per annum, as last set by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 

held on 3 August 2007.

Non-executive director fees are determined following consideration of market 

conditions and views of remuneration experts. There are no retirement benefi ts or 

allowances paid to non-executive directors. Directors’ fees do not incorporate any 

bonus or incentive element.

The remuneration policy for the Managing Director and other key management 

personnel aims to provide fair and equitable remuneration in order to retain and attract 

executives of suffi cient calibre to facilitate the effi cient and effective management of 

the consolidated entity’s operations. The policy has been consistently applied over the 

past four years, except where noted below, and sets remuneration levels that are:-

  Market competitive, based on independent benchmark research provided by • 

leading remuneration consultants, and

  Structured for the Managing Director and other key management personnel to • 

reward the achievement of defi ned annual goals directly linked to performance 

and the creation of longer term shareholder wealth. 

The remuneration packages of the Managing Director and other executives being 

members of the key management personnel are reviewed at least annually by the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee. These packages combine:-

  Fixed annual remuneration, including superannuation and allowances,• 

  Short term performance incentives assessed over the Company’s fi nancial year, • 

and

  Long term performance incentives assessed over periods of three to fi ve years.• 

FIXED ANNUAL REMUNERATION
The market rate of fi xed annual remuneration is determined through analysis of data 

provided by leading remuneration consultants and consideration of the Company’s 

particular circumstances. The Company seeks to benchmark the remuneration paid 

to the Managing Director and other key management personnel based on comparative 

data provided by the consultants. The comparative data used for the Managing Director 

is obtained from listed Australian companies. For other key management personnel, 

the comparative data from both listed Australian companies and subsidiaries of 

international groups is used where relevant. 

The actual level of remuneration appropriate for each executive is determined based on 

the following principles:-

 Market based remuneration – remuneration is based on the current position held a. 

by the relevant key executive

 Positioning within the market range – where a key executive sits within the b. 

relevant market range is determined by performance as well as market and 

Director Ordinary 

Shares 

No.

Performance 

Options 

No.

Performance

 Rights 

No.

G. A. Tomlinson 

C. G. Sutherland

N. D. Hamilton 

S. M. Oliver 

B. J. Pollock

J. G. Whittle

75,744 

495,040 

264,445

6,501

9,863 

1,834,656

-

450,000

-

-

-

-

-

180,000

-

-

-

-

Totals 2,686,249 450,000 180,000
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internal relativities. Key executives that are top 

performers are remunerated at or near the top 

of the range while less experienced or lesser 

performing key managers are remunerated 

between the base and mid-point of the range. 

Progression within the range is based on an 

assessment of performance during the preceding 

assessment period.

SHORT TERM INCENTIVES
For the short term incentive payments made in the 2007 

and 2008 fi nancial years, the Board and Remuneration 

Committee used key performance indicators (“KPIs”) 

which measure the overall success of the consolidated 

entity. The majority of KPIs related to achievement of 

corporate targets in respect of fi nancial performance, 

customer satisfaction, employee safety and business 

improvement projects, as described in Section 3 below. 

During the 2008 fi nancial year, there have been a 

number of new policies and incentive plans introduced 

following the merger with Integrated in June 2007, the 

change in Managing Director and the revised divisional 

structure. All of the executives of the consolidated entity 

now have similar“Executive Service Agreements” (refer 

to Section 5 below for key contractual details) which 

specify the fi xed annual remuneration, the short term 

incentive plan and the long term incentive plan.

Under his Executive Service Agreement, the Managing 

Director can receive a short term incentive paid in 

the Company’s shares or cash up to the value of 

50% of his fi xed annual remuneration payable upon 

achievement of KPIs. These KPIs are to be agreed upon 

between the Managing Director and Board Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee as part of the annual 

budget process, against which the Managing Director’s 

performance will be measured.

Under the short term incentive plans contained in their 

“Executive Service Agreements”, the other executives 

in the key management personnel have a maximum 

potential of 30% of fi xed annual remuneration. The 

payment of up to 20% of fi xed annual remuneration will 

be determined by the application of the performance 

criteria contained in the plan, with 

one half of incentive paid in the Company’s shares a. 

under the Employee Share Acquisition Scheme, and

 the other half will be retained for a period of three b. 

years and paid in the Company’s shares subject to 

the executive continuing to be a Group employee.

The maximum potential of 30% of fi xed annual 

remuneration can be obtained by the executive receiving 

one bonus share for each share received under item (b) 

at the end of the three year period. The shares acquired 

under the short term incentive plan will be purchased 

on market. The Employee Share Acquisition Scheme 

was set up in July 2007 and provides for any incentives 

or bonuses in excess of $1,000 earned by any Group 

employee to be paid in the form of the Company’s 

shares. In addition to facilitating access to shares for 

employees, this plan has the added benefi t of allowing 

participants to defer the tax liability arising from the 

acquisition of the shares for up to 10 years.

LONG TERM INCENTIVES
On 4 May 2007, the Board of Directors approved 

the Long Term Incentive Plan, which is a share-based 

compensation scheme for executives and senior 

employees of the consolidated entity. Executives and 

senior employees may be granted performance rights 

and/or performance options under this plan.

The long term incentive plans contained in the 

“Executive Service Agreements” of the Managing 

Director and the other executives in the key management 

personnel contain the same performance criteria as 

the Long Term Incentive Plan. In accordance with the 

ASX Listing Rules, the Managing Director’s long term 

incentive arrangements will be subject to approval by the 

shareholders at the 2008 Annual General Meeting.

Each performance option converts into one fully paid 

ordinary share in the Company upon the payment of 

the applicable exercise price at the time of exercise. 

No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on 

receipt of a performance option. Each performance right 

converts upon exercise into one fully paid ordinary share 

in the Company. No amounts are paid or payable by the 

recipient on receipt or exercise of a performance right. 

Performance options have a vesting date that is three 

years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at 

any time within twelve months from the date of vesting. 

Performance rights have vesting dates that are three to 

fi ve years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at 

any time within twelve months from the date of vesting. 

Both performance rights and performance options carry 

neither rights to dividends nor voting rights.

The performance criteria are based on the Company’s 

performance ranking over the relevant period (the 

“Performance Period”) determined by reference to the 

Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) of the Company during 

the Performance Period as compared to the TSR for 

each company in a peer group of companies. The peer 

group of companies comprises the companies listed in 

the S&P/ASX 300 (ranked by market capitalisation) after 

excluding resource companies, banks and listed property 

trusts. A peer company must have been in the S&P/ASX 

300 for the entire Performance Period (i.e. new entrants 

and companies dropping out of the S&P/ASX 300 

companies are excluded).

The Company’s “Performance Ranking” within 

that group of companies at the end of the relevant 

Performance Period determines the number of 

performance rights or performance options in the 

particular tranche that become exercisable (if any), 

on the following basis:

Performance Criteria Number of 

Performance Rights 

or Performance 

Options exercisable

Performance Ranking 

below 50th Percentile

No performance rights 

or performance options 

exercisable (as applicable)

Performance Ranking at 

the 50th Percentile

50% of the performance 

rights or performance 

options exercisable (as 

applicable) in the tranche 

available to be exercised

Performance Ranking 

between the 50th and 

75th Percentile (both 

inclusive)

Performance rights or 

performance options 

exercisable (as applicable) 

in the tranche available 

to be exercised will be 

determined on a pro-rata 

basis between 50% and 

100% depending on the 

Company’s percentile 

Performance Ranking

Performance Ranking at or 

above 75th Percentile

100% of performance 

rights or performance 

options exercisable (as 

applicable) in the tranche 

available to be exercised

The performance rights and performance options in 

each particular tranche which become exercisable will 

become available for exercise from the day after the last 

day of the Performance Period (the “Exercise Date”). Any 

performance rights or performance options in a particular 

tranche which do not become exercisable will lapse on 

the last day of the Performance Period.

The performance rights and performance options 

available for exercise can be exercised at any time over 

the twelve month period beginning on the Exercise Date 

(the “Exercise Period”). Any performance rights and 

performance options that have not been exercised by the 

end of the Exercise Period will lapse at that time.
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If the Company becomes the subject of:

a takeover bid and the bid is accepted;a. 

 a scheme of arrangement and the scheme b. 

proceeds with shareholder and regulatory 

approval; or

 an arrangement which passes control of 51% c. 

or more of the share capital

then any unvested performance right or performance 

option instalment issued will vest upon acceptance 

subject to the Performance Criteria described above, 

with the implied price of the Company’s shares at the 

completion of the takeover or scheme to be used in 

determining the Company’s Performance Ranking.

In the event of any capital reconstruction (e.g. bonus 

issues or rights issues), the number of performance rights 

or performance options allocated to an Executive will 

be adjusted in proportion for the impact of the capital 

reconstruction at the discretion of the Board.

3.  Relationship between the remuneration

policy and company performance

For the short term incentive payments made in 

the 2007 and 2008 fi nancial years, the majority of 

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) related to the 

achievement of corporate targets in respect of fi nancial 

performance, customer satisfaction, employee safety 

and business improvement projects. Each target was 

assessed individually and had an objective measurement 

which was readily and easily identifi able and measurable. 

The fi nancial performance was based on revenue, 

earnings and share price targets. Customer satisfaction 

was measured by results from regular customer surveys, 

safety was measured by the Lost Time Injury Frequency 

Rate and business improvement projects were measured 

by both successful implementation and targeted results 

being achieved.

In the opinion of the Board Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, net profi t after tax, customer 

satisfaction, business improvement and safety are all 

key fundamental drivers of shareholder wealth, and 

accordingly it is appropriate for the Managing Director 

and other executives to be remunerated on the basis 

of performance in these areas.

The Board believes that the operational and fi nancial 

performance of the Company over the past fi ve 

years has been strong and it is of the view that the 

remuneration policy has enabled the Company to 

attract and retain high quality executives, and that the 

remuneration of those executives has been consistent 

with the Company’s performance. The introduction 

over the 2008 fi nancial year of both the short term and 

long term incentive plans increases the relationship 

between the remuneration policy and the Company’s 

performance. The compensation payable in these plans 

is in either the Company’s shares, or performance 

options and performance rights that are exercisable 

into the Company’s shares when the Company’s total 

shareholder return exceeds the average of its relevant 

peer group. 

The tables below set out summary information 

about the consolidated entity’s earnings and movements 

in shareholder wealth for the fi ve years 

to 31 March 2008:

Financial Years ended 31 March

31/03/2004 

$’000

31/03/2005 

$’000

31/03/2006 

$’000

31/03/2007 

$’000

31/03/2008 

$’000

Revenue 

Profi t before tax 

Profi t after tax 

Growth in profi t after tax 

Earnings per share (cents)* 

Dividends

Total dividends per share (cents) 

Dividend payout ratio 

Dividend franking 

Share Price at 31 March

No. of Shares issued at 31 March 

(millions) 

Market Capitilisation at 31 March 

($ million)

205,867 

24,025

16,291

17.1%

23.9

12.0

50.2%

50.0%

$2.60

 

68.8

178.9

232,002

26,798

18,255

12.1%

26.3

15.0

59.6%

71.0%

$3.17

70.8

224.4

283,379 

29,727

20,171

10.5% 

28.5

17.0

59.6%

100.0%

$3.61

71.2

257.0

332,999 

32,554

22,399

11.0%

31.5

18.5

58.8%

100.0%

$5.15

71.2

366.7

877,034

38,102

28,422

26.9%

36.5

19.5

59.3%

100.0%

$5.20

90.0

468.0

Consolidated Company

2008

 $

2007

 $

2008

 $

2007

 $

Short-term employment benefi ts 

Post-employment benefi ts 

Other long-term benefi ts

Termination benefi ts 

Share-based payment

3,437,606 

370,839

 -

569,091 

378,551

3,052,630 

354,492

-

-

-

2,250,494

 241,411

-

569,091

184,667

2,461,607

 301,519

-

-

-

TOTALS 4,756,087 3,407,122 3,245,663 2,763,126

* - Earnings per share is shown pre-amortisation of identifi able intangibles for the 2008 fi nancial year.

4. Remuneration of key management personnel

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the consolidated entity and the 

company is set out below, and has been subject to audit:
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The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the consolidated entity is set out below, and has been subject to audit:-

2008

Short-term employee benefi ts Post-employment 
benefi ts

Termination 
Benefi ts

Share-based payment 
- Equity settled

TOTALS

Salary & Fees

$

Bonus

$

Non-Monetary

$

Superannuation

$ $

Shares

$

Options & rights

$ $

Directors 

G. A. Tomlinson

C. G. Sutherland1

M. J. Findlay2

N. D. Hamilton3 

S. M. Oliver 

B. J. Pollock

J. G. Whittle3

Executives

I. H. Jones

S. M. Leach4

M. P. Piwkowski

J. Sherlock

B. Styles4

C. G. Sutherland1

S. Taylor

G. Triggs4

140,367

104,641

812,992

52,807

70,000

75,000

52,500 

242,207

224,535 

173,221

143,034

212,236

213,083

217,671

187,543

-

-

200,000

-

-

-

-

-

60,000

-

-

40,000

-

-

-

-

4,655

26,039

-

-

-

-

36,025 

6,044

77,926

39,080

-

19,149

6,851

-

12,633

3,204

103,475

4,753

6,300

6,750

4,725 

27,011

10,570 

50,709

21,851

19,101

20,797

62,081

16,879

-

-

569,091

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

60,000

-

63,172

-

-

-

-

-

51,121

52,705

52,705

17,669

32,236

-

14,707

33,236

153,000

175,672

1,711,597

57,560

76,300

81,750

57,225 

356,364

353,854

354,561

221,634

304,573

253,029

301,310

297,658

TOTALS 2,921,839 300,000 215,769 370,838 569,091 60,000 318,551 4,756,087

2007

Short-term employee benefi ts Post-employment 
benefi ts

Termination 
Benefi ts

Share-based payment 
- Equity settled

TOTALS

Salary & Fees

$

Bonus

$

Non- Monetary

$

Superannuation

$ $

Shares

$

Options & rights

$ $

Directors 

G.A. Tomlinson

M.J. Findlay

S. M. Oliver 

B.J. Pollock

Executives

I.H. Jones

P.R. Warman

M.P. Piwkowski

J. Sherlock

D. Shafar

S. Bell

D.M. Maple

I. Lilley

N.R. Caigou

C.J. Hammond

140,366

384,411

70,000

72,500

257,701 

222,063

216,516

149,125 

177,111

65,601

144,736

129,240

149,331

144,385

-

223,125

-

-

60,000

6,000

-

25,750

45,000

-

15,000

20,000

55,850

20,962

-

21,000

-

-

16,900

26,234

26,265 

45,000

21,115

9,488

-

21,242

34,504

15,509

12,632

103,806

6,300

6,525

23,193 

33,618

41,611

20,877 

26,795

5,904

20,258

15,524

14,694

22,755

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

152,998

732,342

76,300

79,025

357,794

287,915 

284,492

240,752

270,021

80,993

179,994

186,006

254,379

203,611

TOTALS 2,323,186 471,687 257,757 354,492 - - - 3,407,122

Notes

  Mr. C. G. Sutherland became an executive of the consolidated entity on 8 June 2007, and was 1. 

appointed as the Managing Director on 21 January 2008. Accordingly his remuneration in the 

2008 fi nancial year has been shown separately for the respective periods as an executive and as 

Managing Director.

 Mr. M. J. Findlay retired as Managing Director on 18 January 2008, following twenty years’ service 2. 

with the Company. The termination benefi ts paid to Mr. Findlay in the 2008 fi nancial year included 

entitlements to annual leave and long service leave. There were no other long-term employee 

benefi ts paid to any key management personnel during 2008 and 2007.

 As Messrs. N. D. Hamilton and J.G. Whittle joined the Board of Directors on 8 June 2007, the3. 

remuneration shown for these directors is for the period from 8 June 2007 to 31 March 2008.

As Messrs. S. M. Leach, B. Styles and G. Triggs became executives of the consolidated entity on 8 4. 

June 2007, the remuneration shown for these executives is for the period from 8 June 2007 to 

31 March 2008.

All of the key management personnel are related to the company, with the exceptions of the 5. 

following executives who are related to the consolidated entity for the respective years:-

  2008 S. M. Leach, B. Styles, S. Taylor. G.Triggs and C.G.Sutherland (while an executive) 
2007 I. Lilley, N.R. Caigou and C.J. Hammond

 The remuneration relating to Mr. S.Bell in 2007 is for the period from 16 October 2006 to 6. 
31 March 2007.
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5.  Key terms of employment contracts 

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Set out below are the key terms of the Executive Service 

Agreement (“the Agreement”) of the Managing Director, 

Mr. C. G. Sutherland:-

Term: 

 From 21st January 2008 until one of the following 

occurs:-

The Company gives the Managing Director a. 

6 months’ written notice;

 The Managing Director gives the Company b. 

6 months’ written notice; or

 The Company terminates the Agreement due to c. 

actions of the Managing Director such as serious 

misconduct, dishonesty and bankruptcy

Payments on terminated 

 If the Agreement is under (a) or (b) above, the Company 

has the discretion to, at any time, during the notice 

period either bring the Agreement to an immediate 

end and pay the remuneration that would have been 

received during the remaining notice period, or require 

the Managing Director to undertake alternative duties or 

to remain at home for the remaining notice period.

 If the Agreement is terminated under (c) above, the 

Company is only obliged to pay the Managing Director 

any accrued remuneration, including superannuation and 

leave entitlements.

Remuneration:

Fixed Annual Remuneration: 

$650,000 comprising base salary, superannuation 

contribution and benefi ts as allocated by the Managing 

Director in accordance with the Company’s policies.

Review of Remuneration: 

The remuneration will be reviewed at least annually, with 

any increase at the absolute discretion of the Company.

Annual Leave: 

Four weeks’ annual leave per annum (in addition to 

public holidays)

Long Service Leave:

Thirteen weeks for fi fteen years’ service, with pro rata 

long service leave after ten (10) years service or seven (7) 

years on termination.

Other Leave: 

Personal and compassionate leave as defi ned in the 

Company’s policies.

Short term Incentive: 

Up to 50% of fi xed annual remuneration payable in the 

Company’s shares or cash upon achievement of KPIs

Long term Incentive: 

Refer to Section 2 above for details of long term 

incentives and performance criteria.

Restraint: 

Activities: 

The Managing Director cannot participate (whether as 

a lender, investor, shareholder, unitholder, benefi ciary or 

otherwise) in any of the “Restrained Activities” which 

include:

 •  a business or activity of a type similar to any 

business or activity conducted by any member 

of the PMS Group;

 •  an attempt to seek custom from any customer 

of the PMS Group;

 •  an attempt to hire any employee (or full time 

consultant) of the PMS Group.

Duration: 

The restraint applies for the duration of the term of 

employment and for a period of six months after the 

term ceases.

Geography: 

The restraint applies to all countries in which the PMS 

Group operates.

OTHER EXECUTIVES:

 Set out below are the key terms of the Executive Service 

Agreement (“the Agreement”) of the other executives 

being members of the key management personnel:-

 Term: 

From the commencement date until one of the following 

occurs:

 The Company gives the Executive 3 months’ a. 

written notice;

 The Executive gives the Company 3 months’ b. 

written notice;

 The Company terminates the Agreement due c. 

to actions of the Executive such as serious 

misconduct, dishonesty and bankruptcy; or

 The Executive is terminated as a result of d. 

redundancy arising from genuine structural change 

or changes to operational requirements

Payments on Termination:

If the Agreement is terminated under (a) or (b) above, 

the Company has the discretion to, at any time, during 

the notice period either bring the Agreement to an 

immediate end and pay the remuneration that would 

have been received during the remaining notice period, 

or require the Executive to undertake alternative duties 

or to remain at home for the remaining notice period.

If the Agreement is terminated under (c) above, the 

Company is only obliged to pay the Executive any 

accrued remuneration, including superannuation and 

leave entitlements.

If the Agreement is terminated under (d) above, the 

Executive is entitled to receive the following severance 

payments, in addition to any notice given or payment 

made in lieu,of:

Note: A “months’ pay” shall mean the equivalent of the Fixed Annual 

Remuneration divided by 12.

Period of 

continuous service

Severance 

payment 

(months’ 

pay)

Less than 5 years 3

More than 5 years but 

not more than 6 years

4

More than 6 years but 

not more than 7 years

5

More than 7 years but 

not more than 8 years

6

More than 8 years but 

not more than 9 years

7

More than 9 years 

but not more than 

10 years

8

10 years and over 9
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Remuneration: 

Fixed Annual Remuneration: 

Comprises base salary, superannuation contribution and 

benefi ts as allocated 

by the Executive in accordance with the 

Company’s policies.

Review of Remuneration: 

The remuneration will be reviewed at least annually, with 

any increase at the absolute discretion of the Company.

Annual Leave: 

Four weeks’ annual leave per annum (in addition to 

public holidays) 

Long Service Leave:  

In accordance with the relevant legislation.

Other Leave: 

Personal and compassionate leave as defi ned in the 

Company’s policies.

Short term Incentive: 

Up to 30% of fi xed annual remuneration payable in the 

Company’s shares as described in Section 

2 above.

Long term Incentive: 

Refer to Section 2 above for details of long term 

incentives and performance criteria.

Restraint: 

Activities: 

The Executive cannot participate (whether as a lender, 

investor, shareholder, unitholder, benefi ciary or otherwise) 

in any of the “Restrained Activities” which include:

  a business or activity of a type similar to any • 

business or activity conducted by any member of 

the PMS Group;

  an attempt to seek custom from any customer of • 

the PMS Group;

  an attempt to hire any employee (or full time • 

consultant) of the PMS Group.

Duration: 

The restraint applies for the duration of the term of 

employment and for periods of three months and six 

months after the term ceases.

Geography:

The restraint applies to all regions for which the 

Executive has responsibility.

QUALIFICATIONS OF 
COMPANY SECRETARY
Ian Jones has been the Company Secretary since 19 

September 2000. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce and 

Master of Business Administration from the University of 

Melbourne, and has been a Chartered Accountant and 

Chartered Secretary for over twenty fi ve years. Prior to 

joining the Company, Ian held senior fi nancial roles for 

over ten years with AXA/National Mutual.

Stephen Leach has been the Company Secretary since 

4 February 2008 and was appointed as the Chief 

Financial Offi cer of Programmed in August 2007 

after being the Chief Financial Offi cer and Company 

Secretary of Integrated from October 2005. Before 

joining Integrated in September 2004, Stephen held 

management positions with Macmahon Holdings Limited 

in Australia and with listed multinationals in Southern 

Africa and the United Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor of 

Commerce from Rhodes University, South Africa.

DECLARATION OF MANAGING 
DIRECTOR AND CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER
The Directors have received a declaration from the 

Managing Director and the Chief Financial Offi cer, 

in their performance of the functional roles as chief 

executive and chief fi nancial offi cer respectively that 

complies with Section 295A of the Corporations 

Act 2001.

AUDITOR AND DISCLOSURE 
OF OFFICERS WHO ARE 
FORMER AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continue in offi ce as auditor 

in accordance with Section 327 of the Corporations Act 

2001. No offi cer of the Company who held offi ce during 

the fi nancial year, and no current offi cer, was formerly a 

partner or director of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor 

for non-audit services provided during the year by 

the auditor are outlined in Note 33 to the fi nancial 

statements. The directors are satisfi ed that the provision 

of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor 

(or by another person or fi rm on the auditor’s behalf) is 

compatible with the general standard of independence 

for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as 

disclosed in Note 33 to the fi nancial statements do not 

compromise the external auditor’s independence, based 

on advice received from the Board Audit Compliance & 

Risk Management Committee, for the following reasons:

all non-audit services have been reviewed and • 

approved to ensure that they do not impact the 

integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

none of the services undermine the general • 

principles relating to auditor independence as set 

out Code of Conduct APES110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting 

Professional & Ethical Standards Board, including 

reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, 

acting a management or decision-making capacity 

for the company, acting as an advocate for the 

company or jointly sharing economic risks and 

rewards.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on 

page 78 of the fi nancial statements. 

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS
The company is a company of the kind referred to in 

ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and 

in accordance with the Class Order, amounts in the 

directors’ report and the fi nancial report are rounded off 

to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed in accordance with the resolution of the Directors 

made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations 

Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

C.G. Sutherland

Director

25 June 2008
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 Consolidated Company

Note 2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Continuing operations: 

Revenue

Other income 

Changes in inventories of fi nished goods
and work in progress at cost

Raw materials and consumables used

Employee benefi ts expenses

Sub Contractor expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Finance costs

Equipment and motor vehicle costs

Information technology and telecommunications costs

Impairment of non-current assets

Other expenses

Profi t before tax

Income tax expense

Profi t from continuing operations

Profi t from discontinuing operations

Profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent

Earnings Per Share:

From continuing and discontinuing operations:

Basic (cents per share)

Diluted (cents per share)

From continuing operations:

Basic (cents per share)

Diluted (cents per share)

2

2

2

2

2

3

35

5

5

5

5

837,288 

2,657 

5,489

(45,430) 

(580,350)

(103,178)

(14,046)

(15,835)

(11,504)

(4,788)

-

(33,949)

36,354

(9,092)

27,262

1,160

28,422

32.9

32.6

31.5

31.3

299,368 

505

(22)

(23,591)

(133,075)

(63,136)

(8,139)

(5,201)

(10,929)

(2,622)

-

(22,408)

30,750

(9,588)

21,162

1,237

22,399

31.5

31.5

29.7

29.7

224,192

289

4,088

(19,578)

(99,489)

(68,258)

(7,510)

(13,892)

(7,583)

(2,129)

-

(6,198)

3,932

(1,381)

2,551

-

2,551

196,390 

477

(22)

(17,169)

(91,559)

(44,979)

(6,633)

(4,344)

(6,973)

(1,835)

-

(5,889)

17,464

(5,384)

12,080

-

12,080

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 31 to 75.

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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Consolidated Company

Note 2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other fi nancial assets
Current tax assets
Other current assets

Total assets classifi ed as held for sale

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other fi nancial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets 

Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets 

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Current tax payables
Provisions 

Liabilities directly associated with total assets
classifi ed as held for sale 

Total Current Liabilities 

Non-Current Liabilities  
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings 

Total Equity

7
8
9

10
11

12

13
14
15
16
17
18
19

21
22
23
24

26

22
25
24

27
28
29

4,044
245,406
30,315

-
1,355

13,036
294,156
27,608

321,764

102,610
7,641

-
31,020
14,953

199,367
15,619

371,210

692,974

119,442
42,518
1,275

11,452
174,687

19,040

193,727

177,423
58,838
8,156

244,417

438,144

254,830

136,057
5,446

113,327

254,830

5,213
143,065
17,459

-
2,624
3,776

172,137
-

172,137

97,897
10,395

-
43,262
5,038
9,428
2,022

168,042

340,179

37,852
12,857
2,397
9,644

62,750

-

62,750

83,872
55,044
1,868

140,784

203,534

136,645

27,290
6,898

102,457

136,645

646
94,057
25,683
43,719

-
2,609

166,714
-

166,714

54,194
5,090

224,881
19,498
4,430

-
1,906

309,999

476,713

36,924
39,280

841
8,188

85,233

-

85,233

170,019
38,901
2,018 

210,938 

296,171 

180,542 

136,057 
6,238

38,247 

180,542

4,316
92,965
14,529
3,172

-
2,577

117,559
-

117,559

53,296
7,037

23,715
18,086
4,045

-
2,015

108,194

225,753

23,346
8,056
1,936
7,872

41,210

-

41,210

60,583
36,186
1,701 

98,470 

139,680

86,073 

27,290 
5,535

53,248 

86,073

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2008

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 31 to 75.
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Consolidated Company

Note
2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

 

Translation of foreign operations
Exchange differences taken to equity 

Net (expense) / income recognised directly in equity

Profi t for the year

Total recognised income and expense for the year

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

28 (2,155)

(2,155)

28,422

26,267

 26,267

922

922

22,399

23,321

23,321

-

-

2,551

2,551

2,551

-

-

12,080

12,080

12,080

Consolidated Company

Note
2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees 
Interest and other costs of fi nance paid
Income tax paid

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Interest received
Amounts (advanced to) / received from related parties
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for development software
Payments for businesses
Payments for acquisition of long-term contracts 

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issue of equity securities 
Proceeds from borrowings 
Repayments of borrowings 
Dividends paid 

Net cash provided by / (used in) fi nancing activities 

Net Increase / (Decrease) In Cash Held 

Cash At The Beginning Of The Financial Year 
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balances of cash held 
in foreign currencies 

Cash At The End Of The Financial Year

34(c)

34(e)

34(a)

930,627
(873,538)
(17,088)
(12,185)

27,816

834
-

(10,666)
1,320
(309)

(127,920)
(377)

(137,118)

-
143,659
(15,770)
(17,552)

110,337

1,035

100

(537)

598

351,257
(319,971)

(6,473)
(8,035)

16,778

254
-

(5,228)
1,512
(312)
(50)

-

(3,824)

92
5,742

(6,001)
(12,812)

(12,979)

(25)

270

(145)

100

246,423
(218,542)
(13,892)
(5,700)

8,289

431
(33,283)
(5,450)

900
(317)

(93,689)
(266)

(131,674)

-
143,659
(4,229)

(17,552)

121,878

(1,507)

589

-

(918)

214,020
(195,044)

(4,344)
(4,421)

10,211

185
3,023

(2,296)
786

(303)
(50)

-

1,345

92
4,296

(4,123)
(12,812)

(12,547)

(991)

1,580

-

589

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 31 to 75.

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 31 to 75.
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new or revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are 

relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. Details of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting standards are set out in the individual 

accounting policy notes set out below. The Group has also adopted the following Standards as listed below which only impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements with respect to 

the disclosure.

 - AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

 - AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (revised October 2006)

At the date of authorisation of the fi nancial report, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

Initial application of the following Standard will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the fi nancial report, but will change the disclosures presently made in relation to the 

Group and the company’s fi nancial report:

 - AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’  Effective for annual reporting periods

 (revised September 2007)  beginning on or after 1 January 2009

Initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations is not expected to have any material impact on the fi nancial report of the Group and the company:

 - AASB Interpretation 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’  Effective for annual reporting periods

   beginning on or after 1 January 2008

 - AASB Interpretation 14 ‘AASB 119 -The Limit on a Defi ned Benefi t  Effective for annual reporting periods

   Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their interaction’ beginning on or after 1 January 2008

 - AASB Interpretation 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’  Effective for annual reporting periods

   beginning on or after 1 July 2008

 - AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (revised)  Effective for annual reporting periods

   beginning on or after 1 January 2009

 - AASB 2008 -1’ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective for annual reporting periods

 Share-based Payments: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations beginning on or after 1 January 2009

 - AASB 2008-2 ‘ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -  Effective for annual reporting periods

 Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations arising on Liquidation beginning on or after 1 January 2009

The potential effect of the initial application of the expected issue of an Australian equivalent accounting standard to the following Standard has not yet been determined:

 - IFRS 3 ‘Business Combination’ and IAS 27 ‘Separate and  Effective for annual reporting periods

 Consolidated Financial Statements’  beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Statement of compliance

The fi nancial report is a general purpose fi nancial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and 

complies with other requirements of the law.

The fi nancial report includes the separate fi nancial statements of the company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). Compliance with A-IFRS ensures that the consolidated fi nancial 

statements and notes of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 25 June 2008.

Basis of preparation

The fi nancial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise noted. Cost is based on the fair values of the 

consideration given in exchange for assets.

The company is a company of the kind reffered to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the fi nancial report are 

rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgments made by management in the application of the Group’s accounting policies that have signifi cant effects on the fi nancial statements and estimates with a signifi cant risk 

of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the fi nancial statements.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting fi nancial information satisfi es the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring 

that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported. 
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The following signifi cant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the fi nancial report:

Signifi cant Accounting Policies

(A) REVENUE RECOGNITION

 Rendering of Services 

 The revenue recognised from rendering of services combines:-

(i)  invoicing from the provision of the company’s services inclusive of:

- revenue earned on work completed in servicing long term maintenance contracts 

- revenue from temporary employee placements on an accrual basis in accordance with time worked indicated on employee timesheets 

- permanent placement fees on placement of candidates

(ii)  revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed in servicing long term maintenance contracts which, while owing to the company under the terms of those 

contracts, will not become receivable until future years; and

(iii) revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed under contracts other than long term maintenance contracts.

The revenue earned on work completed comprises the costs incurred plus the individual contract margin earned to date, based on the percentage of completion and the 

expected contract margin.

The long term maintenance contracts specifi cally detail both services to be performed and the invoicing components for each year of the contracts. The company’s contract 

administration system enables the stage of completion of each contract to be reliably measured against predetermined budgets and regularly updated assessments of the work 

required for completion of the contract.

The company’s long term maintenance contracts include indexation clauses to allow for cost escalations. Labour and material costs are indexed on publicly available indices, and 

overhead costs are indexed at long term interest rates.

The company reviews the projected infl ows of sales receipts to determine whether the values of revenue earned for the reporting period and Contracts in Progress at 

Recoverable Value at the reporting date are at their fair values. The fair values would be calculated by indexing the nominal values at the weighted average of the indexation 

and then discounting these amounts by the implicit rate of interest. As the current view of the company is that the weighted average of the indexation equates to the implicit 

rate of interest, there is no material difference between the nominal values and fair values of the revenue earned and the recoverable values. Accordingly, the revenue not yet 

invoiced but earned on work completed is recorded at recoverable value.

INTEREST REVENUE 

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial asset’s carrying amount.

(B)  CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AT RECOVERABLE VALUE

 The revenue earned on long term maintenance contracts includes a portion that will only become receivable after the reporting date. The receivable is carried forward and 

shown in the balance sheet as contracts in progress at recoverable value. As described above in the accounting policy on revenue recognition, contracts in progress at 

recoverable value are reviewed and recorded at fair value on initial recognition, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost which includes the adjustment for indexation.

(C) INVENTORIES 

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except for those components of work in progress which are valued at a recoverable value. 

(D)  INCOME TAX

Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profi t or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax 

rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent 

that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount 

of assets and liabilities in the fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that suffi cient taxable 

amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which 

affects neither taxable income nor accounting profi t. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from the initial 

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal 

of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be suffi cient taxable profi ts against which to 

utilise the benefi ts of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, 

based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets refl ects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX FOR THE PERIOD

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case 

the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the 

determination of goodwill or excess.

TAX CONSOLIDATION

The company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian taxation law. Programmed Maintenance Services 

Limited is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members 

of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate fi nancial statements of the members of the tax consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ 

approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate fi nancial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and 

assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the company (as head entity in 

the tax-consolidated group).

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts are recognised as payable to or receivable by the company 

and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated group 

in accordance with the arrangement. Further information about the tax funding arrangement is detailed in Note 3(c) to the fi nancial statements. Where the tax contribution 

amount recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated group for a particular period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax 

asset arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants.

(E)  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Construction in progress is stated at cost. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the item. Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings 

but excluding land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its 

estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.

The following estimated lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Freehold Buildings  20 - 30 years

Leasehold improvements - Buildings 3 - 5 years

Plant and equipment  3 - 15 years

Equipment under fi nance lease  5 years

(F)  FOREIGN CURRENCY

The individual fi nancial statements of each group entity are presented in its functional currency being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 

operates. For the purpose of the consolidated fi nancial statements, the results and fi nancial position of each entity are expressed in Australian dollars, which is the functional 

currency of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited and the presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange 

prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 

balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 

value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they arise except that:

exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use are included in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an i. 

adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings;

 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur, which form ii. 

part of the net investment in a foreign operation, are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in profi t or loss on disposal of the net 

investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuate signifi cantly during that period, in which case the 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

Exchange differences arising, if any, are classifi ed as equity and tranferred to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised in 

profi t and loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity on or after the date of transition to A-IFRS are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

entity and translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to A-IFRS is treated as an Australian 

dollar denominated asset.
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The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the company (its 

subsidiaries) (referred to as ‘the Group’ in these fi nancial statements). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies 

of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the 

effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the 

Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair 

values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any 

costs directly attributable to the business combination.

The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ are recognised at their 

fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal group’s) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations’, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 

in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s 

identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

(H)  FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment 

within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as at fair 

value through profi t or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Effective interest method

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the fi nancial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective 

interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those fi nancial assets ‘at fair value through profi t or loss’.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classifi ed as ‘loans and receivables’. 

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.

Impairment of fi nancial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired 

where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the fi nancial asset the estimated future cash fl ows of the 

investment have been impacted. For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t 

or loss.

In a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event after the impairment was recognised, the 

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profi t or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 

exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(I)  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

A liability is recognised for benefi ts accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be 

required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefi ts expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to 

apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefi ts which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash 

outfl ows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Defi ned contribution plans

Contributions to defi ned contribution superannuation plans are expensed when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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(J)  LEASED ASSETS

Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. 

All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases.

Group as lessee

Assets held under fi nance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 

at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a fi nance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between fi nance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 

pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. 

(K) IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 

have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where the asset does not generate cash fl ows that are independent from other assets, the consolidated entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs.

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that 

the asset may be impaired. An impairment of goodwill is not subsequently reversed.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset for which the estimates of future cash fl ows 

have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profi t or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment 

loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only 

to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profi t or loss immediately.

(L)  OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other fi nancial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other fi nancial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the fi nancial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(M)  BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 

ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income 

earned on the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowings are recognised in profi t and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(N)  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which 

are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

(O)  GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair 

value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised at the date of the acquisition.

Goodwill is subsequently measured at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, expected to benefi t from the synergies 

of business combination. Cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
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 (O) GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-

generating units), the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) 

and then to the other assets of the cash generating units pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating 

units). An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is recognised immediately in profi t or loss and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of an operation within a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profi t or loss on disposal of 

the operation.

(P) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cashfl ows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 

of those cashfl ows.

(Q) GOODS & SERVICES TAX

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

 where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of i. 

expense; or

for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.ii. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash fl ows are included in the cash fl ow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash fl ows arising from investing and fi nancing activities which is recoverable from, 

or payable to, the taxation authority is classifi ed as operating cash fl ows.

(R) OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Value of long term contracts acquired

Included in other intangible assets is the value of long term contracts acquired. The Group recognises the value of these intangible assets as the total of the purchase 

consideration and the fair value of the net liabilities acquired. Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Value of development software

Included in intangible assets is the value of development software. The Group recognises the value of these intangible assets as the total of the consideration paid to external 

parties to develop proprietary software that is used in the operational processes of the Group. These intangible assets are being amortised over three years. Amortisation is 

charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.

These intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. Any impairment is recognised immediately in 

profi t or loss. Refer also Note 1(k).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identifi ed and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy the defi nition of an intangible asset and their fair 

value can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, 

on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

(S) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments with employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. Fair values of performance rights have been 

priced using a Monte Carlo simulation, which is a valuation method using the results of many individual simulations to determine a fair value. Performance options have 

been priced using a Black-Scholes model, which is a mathematical model for determining the market price for an equity-based security that is exercisable on a future date. 

The expected lives used in the models have been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural 

considerations.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 

estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest.

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 

recognised in profi t or loss over the remaining vesting period, with corresponding adjustments to the equity-settled employee benefi ts reserve.
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2. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
  Consolidated Company

  2008  2007  2008  2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

(a) Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year, from both continuing

and discontinuing operations, is as follows:

Continuing operations

Revenue from rendering of services:

Invoiced  819,544  290,102  217,766  195,808

Not Yet Invoiced

- Increase in amounts recoverable (Note 20)  9,904  8,323 481 2,173

- Work in progress at recoverable value (Note 20) 4,119  804 5,207 (2,347)

- Work in progress at cost  -  (395)  -  167

  833,567  298,834 223,454  195,801

Interest revenue

- wholly owned controlled entities  -  -  69  148

- other entities  834 245 431 185

  834 245 500 333

Rental revenue

- operating lease rental revenue  133  34 24  30

Other Revenue  2,754 255 214 226

  837,288 299,368 224,192 196,390

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  39,746  33,631  -  -

  877,034  332,999  224,192  196,390

(b) Profi t before income tax

(i) Profi t before income tax has been arrived at after crediting / (charging)

the following gains and losses:

Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment  199  561  289  477

Gain on disposal of business  2,128  -  -  -

Net foreign exchange gains / (losses)  330  (56)  -  -

 2,657  505  289  477

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  39  147  -  -

Total Other income  2,696  652  289  477

(ii) Profi t before income tax has been arrived at after

charging the following expenses:

Finance Costs:

Interest on loans

- other entities  (13,678)  (3,778)  (12,281)  (3,094)

- fi nance lease fi nance charges  (2,581)  (2,400)  (1,088)  (1,084)

Total interest expense  (16,259)  (6,178)  (13,369)  (4,178)

Other fi nance costs  (829)  (295)  (523)  (166)

 (17,088)  (6,473)  (13,892)  (4,344)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations  (15,835)  (5,201)  (13,892)  (4,344)

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  (1,253)  (1,272)  -  -

  (17,088)  (6,473)  (13,892)  (4,344)

(T) NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classifi ed as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded 

as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 

qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classifi cation. Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classifi ed as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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 Consolidated Company 

     2008  2007  2008  2007

    $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

(b) Profi t before income tax (continued)

(ii)  Profi t before income tax has been arrived at after

 charging the following expenses (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables : (443)  (404)  (170)  (268)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations   (413)  (397)  (170)  (268)

Discontinuing operations  (30)  (7)  -  -

    (443)  (404)  (170)  (268)

Depreciation of non-current assets

- Property, plant and equipment  (7,450)  (4,402)  (2,959)  (2,352)

Amortisation of non-current assets

- Finance lease assets   (7,352)  (6,878)  (3,860)  (3,696)

- Brand names   (150)  -  - -

- Value of long term contracts acquired  (3,164)  (510)  (510)  (510)

- Value of development software  (181)  (77)  (181)  (75)

    (10,847)  (7,465)  (4,551)  (4,281)

Total depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  (18,297)  (11,867)  (7,510)  (6,633)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations   (14,046)  (8,139)  (7,510)  (6,633)

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  (4,251)  (3,728)   - -

    (18,297)  (11,867)   (7,510)  (6,633)

Operating lease rental expense

- Minimum lease payments  (6,591)  (2,681)  (1,778)  (1,354)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations   (5,963)  (2,242)  (1,778)  (1,354)

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  (628)  (439)   - -

    (6,591)  (2,681)  (1,778)  (1,354)

Employee benefi t expense:

Post employment benefi ts

- Defi ned contribution plans (superannuation contributions)  (34,263)  (8,544)  (6,892)  (6,251)

- Termination benefi ts   (3,091)  (1,558)  (1,974)  (1,381)

- Equity-settled non-cash share-based payments  (548)  -  (347)  -

- Other employee benefi ts  (560,610)  (137,364)  (90,276)  (83,927)

Total employee benefi t expense:  (598,512)  (147,466)  (99,489)  (91,559)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations   (580,350)  (133,075)  (99,489)  (91,559)

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  (18,162)  (14,391)  -  -

    (598,512)  (147,466)  (99,489)  (91,559)
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  Consolidated Company

  2008  2007  2008  2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

(a)  Income tax recognised in profi t and loss

 Tax expense comprises:

Current tax expense  10,582  5,998  (949)  4,294

Deferred tax expense relating to the origination

and reversal of temporary differences  (902)  4,156  2,330  1,090

Total tax expense  9,680  10,154  1,381  5,384

Attributable to:

Continuing operations  9,092  9,588  1,381  5,384

Discontinuing operations (Note 35)  588  566  -  -

  9,680  10,154  1,381  5,384

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profi t

from operations reconciles to the income tax expense in the

fi nancial statements as follows:

Profi t from continuing operations  36,354  30,750  3,932  17,464

Profi t from discontinuing operations  1,748 1,803  -  -

Profi t from operations  38,102 32,553 3,932 17,464

Income tax expense calculated at 30%  11,431 9,766 1,081 5,239

Amortisation of intangibles  893 153 153 153

Non-deductible expenses  377 146 132 100

Non assessable gain on disposal of business  (747) -  -  -

Effect of different rates of subsidiaries operating in

other jurisdictions  95  256  -  -

Effect on future income tax benefi t and provision

for deferred income tax due to the change in the corporate income

tax rate from 33% to 30% in New Zealand (effective 1 July 2008)  (1,790)  -  -  -

Exempt income  (95)  -  -  -

  10,164  10,321 1,365  5,492

(Over)/under provision of income tax in previous year  (484)  (167) 16  (108)

Total tax expense  9,680  10,154  1,381  5,384

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax

rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable

profi ts under Australian tax law. There has been no change in

the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous

reporting period.

(b)  Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax assets:

Tax refund receivable  1,355  2,624 - -

  1,355  2,624 - -

Current tax payables:

Income tax attributable to:

Parent entity (937)  488 (937)  488

Entities in the tax-consolidated group  1,778  1,448  1,778 1,448

Other - overseas subsidiaries  434 461  -  -

  1,275 2,397  841 1,936

(c) Deferred tax balances
Deferred tax assets comprise:

Temporary differences  14,956  5,038  4,430 4,045

Other - overseas subsidiaries  390  -  -  -

  15,346  5,038 4,430 4,045

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:

Temporary differences  58,838 55,044 38,901 36,186
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(c)  Deferred tax balances (continued)

Taxable and deductible temporary differences attributable to continuing operations arise from the following:

    Opening  Charged to  Acquisitions/  Exchange  Tax Rate  Closing
Consolidated - 2008  balance income Disposals differences Change balance
    $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Gross deferred tax liabilities:

Inventories   (8,504)  (3,001)  -  42  157  (11,306)

Contracts in progress at recoverable value  (46,230)  (1,844)  -  44  1,672  (46,358)

Property, plant & equipment  (138)  280  (98)  -  -  44

Other   (172)  692  (1,738)  -  -  (1,218)

    (55,044)  (3,873)  (1,836)  86  1,829  (58,838)

Gross deferred tax assets:

Provisions   3,448  595  4,710  (2)  (11)  8,740

Property, plant & equipment  103  (6)  -  (2)  (9)  86

Doubtful debts   400  123  470  (2)  (7)  984

Other   1,087  2,273  2,189  (1)  (12)  5,536

    5,038  2,985  7,369  (7)  (39)  15,346

    (50,006)  (888)  5,534  79  1,790  (43,492)

Presented in the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax (liability) attributable to:
Continuing operations        (58,838)
Deferred tax asset attributable to:
Continuing operations        14,953
Discontinuing operations (Note 35)       393
         15,346

    Opening  Charged to  Acquisitions/  Exchange  Tax Rate  Closing
Consolidated - 2007  balance income Disposals differences Change balance

    $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Gross deferred tax liabilities:

Inventories   (7,822)  (630)  -  (52)  -  (8,504)

Contracts in progress at recoverable value  (42,938)  (2,967)  -  (325)  -  (46,230)

Property, plant & equipment  (222)  84  -  -  -  (138)

Other   (163)  (9)  -  -  -  (172)

    (51,145)  (3,522)  -  (377)  -  (55,044)

Gross deferred tax assets:

Provisions   3,317  128  -  3  -  3,448

Property, plant & equipment  117  (16)  -  2  -  103

Doubtful debts   284  113  -  3  -  400 

Other   1,948  (859)  -  (2)  -  1,087

    5,666  (634)  -  6  -  5,038

    (45,479)  (4,156)  -  (371)  -  (50,006)

    Opening Charged to  Closing
Company - 2008  balance income balance
    $’000  $’000  $’000
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Inventories   (6,412)  (2,726)  (9,138)
Contracts in progress at recoverable value (29,615) (144)  (29,759)
Other   (159)  155  (4)
    (36,186)  (2,715)  (38,901)
Gross deferred tax assets:
Provisions   2,871  190  3,061
Doubtful debts   234  (6)  228
Other   940  201  1,141
    4,045  385  4,430
    (32,141) (2,330)  (34,471)
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(c) Deferred tax balances (continued) 

    Opening Charged to  Closing
Company - 2007  balance income balance
    $’000  $’000  $’000
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Inventories   (6,736)  324  (6,412)
Contracts in progress at recoverable value  (28,963)  (652)  (29,615)
Other   (136)  (23)  (159) 

    (35,835)  (351)  (36,186) 

Gross deferred tax assets:
Provisions   2,821  50  2,871
Doubtful debts   190  44  234
Other   1,773  (833)  940
    4 ,784  (739)  4,045

    (31,051)  (1,090)  (32,141)

Relevance of tax consolidation to the consolidated entity
The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 April 2004
and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Programmed
Maintenance Services Limited. Integrated Group Limited and its’ subsidiaries joined the tax consolidated group on 7 June 2007.
The members of the tax-consolidated group are identifi ed at Note 36.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the head
entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, Programmed Maintenance Services Limited and each of the entities in the
tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or
current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are refl ected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the
tax-consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination of the
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts
have been recognised in the fi nancial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing
agreement is considered remote.   

4. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES

      

      Proportion  Total Cost of
    Principal Date of  of shares  Acquisitions  
Name of business acquired Activity Acquisition acquired (%) $’000
 

2008
Integrated Group Limited (a)  Work Force Management  7/06/2007  100%  202,455

Black and White Recruitment Solutions (b)  Labour Hire   28/09/2007  N/A  3,906

Genesis Recruitment (c)  Labour Hire   30/11/2007  N/A  3,748

        210,109

     2008  2007

     $’000  $’000 

   The cost of acquisitions comprise:-
   Cash   101,342  50
   Issue of equity securities1   108,767  -
   Total cost of acquisitions   210,109 50

1 Fair value of equity issued was $108,767 thousand being 18,817,689 shares at $5.78 being the closing PRG share price traded on 7 June 2007. 

The amount paid in 2007 related to stamp duty assessed on the acquisition of Tungsten Group Pty Limited on the 10/10/2005.
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(a) Integrated Group Limited 

       Total fair
    Book Fair value value on
    value adjustment acquisition 
    $’000  $’000  $’000
Net assets acquired:
Current assets

Cash   3,495  -  3,495
Receivables   78,208  -  78,208
Inventories   523  -  523

Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment  7,528  -  7,528
Deferred tax asset   7,555  (184)  7,371
Intangible assets   3,637  12,849  16,486

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  (47,800)  -  (47,800)
Bank overdraft   (30,658)  - (30,658)
Borrowings   (293)  -  (293)
Current tax payables  (1,654)  (750)  (2,404)
Provisions   (2,343)  -  (2,343)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings   (3,502)  -  (3,502)
Deferred tax liabilities  (3,079)  1,243  (1,836)
Provisions   (4,314)  -  (4,314)

   7,303  13,158  20,461

Goodwill on acquisition
   Total cost of acquisition    202,455
   Less: Net assets acquired    20,461

   Goodwill on acquisition    181,994

(b) Black and White Recruitment Solutions

Net assets acquired:
Current assets   -  -  -
Non-current assets   -  - -
Current liabilities   -  -  -
Non-current liabilities   -  -  -

    -  -  -

Goodwill on acquisition
   Total cost of acquisition    3,906
   Less: Net assets acquired    -

   Goodwill on acquisition    3,906

(c) Genesis Recruitment

Net assets acquired:

Current assets   -  -  -
Non-current
    Property, plant & equipment  156  -  156
Current liabilities   -  -  -
Non-current liabilities   -  -  -
    156  -  156

Goodwill on acquisition

Total cost of acquisition     3,748
Less: Net assets acquired    156

Goodwill on acquisition     3,592

Had these business combinations been effected at 1 April 2007, the revenue of the Group would be $989,934 thousand, and net profi t $30,883 thousand. The directors of 
the Group consider these ‘proforma’ numbers to represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined group on an annualised basis and provide a reference 
point for comparison in future periods. Further details of the businesses acquired during the fi nancial year are disclosed in Note 34(e).
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     Consolidated

     2008  2007
     Cents  Cents
     per share  per share

 From continuing and discontinuing operations:

Basic earnings per share  32.9  31.5

Diluted earnings per share  32.6  31.5

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per share  31.5  29.7

Diluted earnings per share  31.3  29.7

Basic Earnings per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share are as follows:  2008  2007

     $’000  $’000

Earnings   28,422  22,399

     2008  2007
     No.’000  No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  86,517  71,178

Diluted Earnings per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share are as follows:

     2008  2007
     $’000  $’000

Earnings   28,422  22,399

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares in the calculation of
diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:  2008  2007

     No.’000  No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share  86,517  71,178

Perfomance rights and options  680  -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of diluted earnings per share  87,197  71,178
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During the year ended 31 March 2008, the company introduced the “Long Term Incentive Plan” which is a new share-based compensation scheme for executives and senior 

employees of the PMS Group. In accordance with the provisions of this plan, the executives and senior employees may be granted either performance rights or performance 

options.

Each performance right converts upon exercise into one fully paid ordinary share of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. No amounts are paid or payable by the 

recipient on receipt of the performance right. 

Each performance option converts into one fully paid ordinary share of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited upon the payment of the applicable exercise price at time of 

exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the performance option.

Performance rights have vesting dates that are three to fi ve years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at any time within twelve months from date of vesting. 

Performance options have a vesting date that is three years from the date of issue, and may be exercised at any time within twelve months from the date of vesting. Both 

performance rights and performance options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights.

In accordance with the plan, the number of performance rights or performance options that will be exercisable on the vesting date is based on the Total Shareholder Return of 

the Company during the years prior to the vesting date as compared to the Total Shareholder Return for a peer group of companies listed in the S&P/ASX 300 Index.

During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007, the last of the share options issued under the superceded share options scheme were exercised. Under the provisions of the 

scheme, each share option converted into one fully paid ordinary share of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited upon the payment of the applicable exercise price at time 

of exercise.

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and previous fi nancial year:

Performance Rights Performance Options Share Options

2008
No.

2007
No.

2008
No.

2007
No.

2008
No.

2007
No.

Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year (i) 

Granted during the fi nancial year (ii) 

Exercised during the fi nancial year (iii) 

Lapsed during the fi nancial year (iv)

-

1,049,091

-

109,787

-

-

-

-

-

2,900,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

36,000

-

(36,000)

-

Balance at end of the fi nancial year (v) 939,304 - 2,900,000 - - -

(i) Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year 2008

Balance of performance rights and performance options at the beginning of the current fi nancial year was nil. 

The balance of share options (issued under the superseded scheme) held at the beginning of the previous fi nancial year was 36,000.

(ii) Granted during the fi nancial year 2008

The following performance rights and performance options were approved for issue by the Board of Directors during 2008:-

  Number   Grant Vesting Expiry Exercise Fair Value at
  Granted  Date Date  Date Price  Grant Date
      $  $

Performance Rights

Tranche PR-1    691,591  22/06/2007  1/07/2010  30/06/2011  -  3.35

Tranche PR-2  Note 1 60,000  8/08/2008  21/01/2011  21/01/2012  - 3.69

Tranche PR-3  Note 1 60,000  8/08/2008  21/01/2012  21/01/2013  -  3.56

Tranche PR-4  Note 1 60,000  8/08/2008  21/01/2013  21/01/2014  -  3.45

Tranche PR-5   54,750  12/03/2008  11/03/2011  11/03/2012  -  3.12

Tranche PR-6    54,750  12/03/2008 11/03/2012  11/03/2013  -  3.01

Tranche PR-7   68,000 12/03/2008  11/03/2013  11/03/2014  -  2.92

Total Performance Rights  1,049,091  
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(ii) Granted during the fi nancial year 2008 (continued)

  

Performance Options
 Tranche PO-1  Note 1 150,000  08/08/2008  21/01/2011  21/01/2012  4.82  0.82

 Tranche PO-2 Note 1 150,000  08/08/2008  21/01/2012  21/01/2013  5.05  1.04

 Tranche PO-3  Note 1 150,000  08/08/2008  21/01/2013  21/01/2014  5.71  1.18

 Tranche PO-4   763,000  12/03/2008  11/03/2011  11/03/2012  4.80  0.71

 Tranche PO-5   763,000  12/03/2009  11/03/2012  11/03/2013  5.13  1.06

 Tranche PO-6   924,000  12/03/2010  11/03/2013  11/03/2014  5.80  1.20

Total Performance Options  2,900,000

Note 1   The tranches of performance rights PR-2, PR-3 and PR-4 and performance options PO-1, PO-2, and PO-3 were approved by the Board as part of the Executive Service Agreement of the Managing Director, 

who commenced in that role on 21 January 2008. The ASX Listing Rules require the Managing Director’s long term incentive arrangements to be subject to approval by the shareholders at the next Annual 

General Meeting, which is due to be held on 8 August 2008.

The company has expensed the proportinate cost of the performance rights and performance options based on the estimated fair value at grant date from 21 January 2008, being the commencement date of the 

Managing Director’s service in that role. 

The fair values at grant date of the performance rights have been priced using a Monte Carlo simulation, which is a valuation method using the results of many individual simulations to determine a fair value. The fair 

values at grant date of the performance options have been priced using a Black-Scholes model, which is a mathematical model for determining the market price for an equity-based security that is exercisable on a

 future date.
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Number 
Granted 

Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry  Date Exercise 
Price 

$

Fair Value at 
Grant Date 

$

Tranches of Performance Rights

Inputs into the model PR-1 PR-2 PR-3 PR-4 PR-5 PR-6 PR-7

Share price at grant date $5.71 $5.20 $5.20 $5.20 $4.46 $4.46 $4.46

Expected life (in years) from grant date 3.00 2.50 3.50 4.50 3.00 4.00 5.00

Expected volatility 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00%

Dividend yield 3.50% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90%

Risk-free interest rate 6.33% 6.04% 6.01% 5.99% 6.04% 6.01% 5.99%

Tranches of Performance Options

Inputs into the model PO-1 PO-2 PO-3 PO-4 PO-5 PO-6

Expected share price at grant date $4.61 $5.05 $5.71 $4.48 $5.13 $5.80

Expected life (in years) from grant date 2.50 3.50 4.50 3.00 3.00 3.00

Expected exercise price $4.82 $5.05 $5.71 $4.80 $5.13 $5.80

Risk-free interest rate 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%

Standard deviation of the rate of return 12.48% 12.48% 12.48% 12.48% 12.48% 12.48%
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Number 
Lapsed

Issue
Date

Vesting
Date

 Expiry
Date

Tranche PR-1 109,787 22/06/2007 1/07/2010 30/06/2011

(iii) Exercised during the fi nancial year 2008

No performance rights nor performance options were capable of being exercised during the current fi nancial year.
Set out below are the details of the share options exercised during the previous fi nancial year:-

        Fair Value
  No. of   Expiry/  Exercise  No. of  Fair  of shares
Options - Series  Options  Vesting  Exercise  Price  Shares  Value  at date
  Exercised  Date  Date    Issued  Received  of issue
      $  $  $

(6) Granted 8 May 2002   36,000  29/09/2004  29/09/2006  2.57  36,000  92,520  150,120

The fair value of shares at date of exercise was determined by using the market price of the company’s ordinary shares on 29 September 2006. At this date, the market price was 
$4.17 per share. 

(iv) Lapsed during the fi nancial year 2008

No performance options lapsed during the current fi nancial year.

No share options lapsed during the previous fi nancial year.

Set out below are the details of the performance rights that lapsed during the current fi nancial year:-

(v) Balance at end of the fi nancial year 2008

 Grant  Vested  Unvested  Vesting Expiry Exercise Fair Value at
 Date No. No.  Date  Date  Price  Grant Date
      $  $

Performance Rights

Tranche PR-1  22/06/2007  -  581,804  1/07/2010  30/06/2011  -  3.35

Tranche PR-2  Note 1 21/01/2008  -  60,000  21/01/2011  21/01/2012  -  3.69

Tranche PR-3  Note 1 21/01/2008  -  60,000  21/01/2012  21/01/2013  -  3.56

Tranche PR-4  Note 1 21/01/2008  -  60,000  21/01/2013  21/01/2014  -  3.45

Tranche PR-5  12/03/2008  -  54,750  11/03/2011  11/03/2012  -  3.12

Tranche PR-6  12/03/2008  -  54,750  11/03/2012  11/03/2013  -  3.01

Tranche PR-7  12/03/2008  -  68,000  11/03/2013  11/03/2014  -  2.92

Total of Performance Rights   -  939,304

Performance Options

Tranche PO-1  Note 1 21/01/2008  -  150,000  21/01/2011  21/01/2012  4.82 0.82

Tranche PO-2  Note 1 21/01/2009  -  150,000  21/01/2012  21/01/2013  5.05  1.04

Tranche PO-3  Note 1 21/01/2010  -  150,000  21/01/2013  21/01/2014  5.71  1.18

Tranche PO-4  12/03/2008  -  763,000  11/03/2011  11/03/2012  4.80  1.71

Tranche PO-5  12/03/2009  -  763,000  11/03/2012  11/03/2013  5.13  1.06

Tranche PO-6  12/03/2010  -  924,000 11/03/2013  11/03/2014  5.80  1.20

Total of Performance Options   -  2,900,000

Note 1   The tranches of performance rights PR-2, PR-3 and PR-4 and performance options PO-1, PO-2, and PO-3 were approved by the Board as part of the Executive Service Agreement of the Managing Director, 

who commenced in that role on 21 January 2008. The ASX Listing Rules require the Managing Director’s long term incentive arrangements to be subject to approval by the shareholders at the next Annual 

General Meeting, which is due to be held on 8 August 2008.

The company has expensed the proportinate cost of the performance rights and performance options based on the estimated fair value at grant date from 21 January 2008, being the commencement date of the 

Managing Director’s service in that role. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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     Consolidated Company

   2008 2007 2008  2007

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Trade receivables   183,297 75,514 49,485 47,901

Allowance for doubtful debts  (3,383) (1,318) (761) (782)

   179,914 74,196 48,724 47,119

Contracts in progress at recoverable value (Note 20)  70,605 68,713 45,176 45,690

Other amounts due from customers under

long-term contracts   224 156 157 156

   250,743 143,065 94,057 92,965

Trade and other receivables classifi ed as held for sale (Note 35)  (5,337) - -  -

   245,406 143,065 94,057 92,965 

The average credit period for invoiced services is 30 - 60 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable 

amounts, determined by reference to past default experience.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $25.9 million (2007: $10.1 million) which are past due at the reporting 

date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group 

does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 66 days (2007: 69 days).

   Consolidated  Company

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Ageing of past due but not impaired $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

  60 - 90 days  12,057  3,007  4,428  2,142

  90 - 120 days  13,815  7,119  5,677 5,997

  Total  25,872  10,126  10,105  8,139

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts

  Balance at the beginning of the year  1,318  996  782  634

  Impairment losses recognised on receivables  1,148  510  114  303

  Impairment losses are attributable to the acquisition of 

  Integrated Group Limited during the fi nancial year  1,666  -  -  - 

  Amounts written off as uncollectible  (197)  (158)  (117)  (155)

  Amounts recovered during the year  (140)  (1)  (18)  -

  Impairment losses reversed  (412)  (29)  -  -

  Balance at the end of the year  3,383 1,318 761 782

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially 

granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe 

that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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9. CURRENT OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

At amortised cost:

Loans to subsidiaries  -  -  43,719  3,172

  -  -  43,719  3,172

10. CURRENT TAX ASSETS

Attributable to:-

Entities in the tax consolidated group (Note 3)  1,355  2,624  -  -

Income tax receivable  1,355  2,624  -  -

11. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments  3,405  2,917  1,377  2,032

Other  10,391  859  1,232  545

  13,796  3,776  2,609  2,577

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (760)  -  -  -

  13,036  3,776  2,609  2,577

12. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Assets related to the industrial services business (Note 35)  27,608  -  -  -

  27,608  -  -  -

13. NON-CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Contracts in progress at recoverable value (Note 20)  102,290  97,628  54,022  53,027

Other amounts due from customers under

long-term contracts  320  269  172  269

  102,610  97,897  54,194  53,296

14. NON-CURRENT INVENTORIES

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress (Note 20)  7,641  10,395  5,090  7,037

  7,641  10,395  5,090  7,037

15. NON-CURRENT OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

At cost:

Investments in subsidiaries  -  -  224,881  22,225

At amortised cost:

Loans to subsidiaries  -  -  -  1,490

  -  -  224,881  23,715

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

7. CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

   Consolidated Company

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Ageing of impaired trade receivables $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

  60 - 90 days  -  6  -  -

  90 - 120 days  3,383  1,312  761  782

  Total  3,383  1,318  761  782

8. CURRENT INVENTORIES

At cost:

 Raw materials and stores  2,051  1,420  1,251  1,290

 Work in progress  10,445  5,147  8,860  4,943

 Finished goods   314  192  314  192

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress (Note 20)  17,593  10,700  15,258  8,104

   30,403  17,459  25,683  14,529

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (88)  -  -  -

   30,315  17,459  25,683  14,529
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  Consolidated 

 Freehold  Leasehold   Equipment

 Land and  Improvements  Plant and  under fi nance

 Buildings  Buildings  Equipment  Lease

 (at cost)  (at cost)  (at cost)  (at cost)  TOTAL

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2006  2,615  384  32,858  35,278  71,135

Additions  6 55  4,690  17,573  22,324

Disposals  -  -  (3,985)  (2,216)  (6,201)

Acquisitions through business combinations  -  -  -  -  - 

Transfers  -  -  4,720  (4,720)  -

Net foreign exchange  5  2  190  34  231

Balance at 31 March 2007  2,626 441  38,473  45,949  87,489

Additions  242  741  9,990  7,694 18,667

Disposals  -  - (4,501)  (898)  (5,399)

Acquisitions through business combinations  -  3,546 17,952  -  21,498

Disposal of business  -  (279) (5,720)  -  (5,999)

Classifi ed as held for sale  -  (24)  (13,433)  (25,291)  (38,748)

Transfers  -  4  2,257 (2,311)  (50)

Net foreign exchange  (34)  (18)  (211)  (323)  (586)

Balance at 31 March 2008  2,834  4,411  44,807  24,820  76,872

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2006  (399)  (231)  (23,508)  (14,052)  (38,190)

Disposals  -  -  3,632  1,765  5,397

Depreciation expense  (73)  (68)  (4,261)  (6,878)  (11,280)

Transfers  -  -  (3,941)  3,941  -

Net foreign exchange  (1)  (1)  (124)  (28)  (154)

Balance at 31 March 2007  (473)  (300)  (28,202)  (15,252)  (44,227)

Disposals  -  -  3,622  691  4,313

Depreciation expense  (59)  (451)  (6,940)  (7,352)  (14,802)

Acquisitions through business combinations  -  (1,588)  (12,382)  -  (13,970)

Disposal of business  -  67  4,483  -  4,550

Classifi ed as held for sale  -  24  9,463  8,400  17,887

Transfers  -  -  (1,641)  1,691  50

Net foreign exchange  6  13  134  194  347

Balance at 31 March 2008  (526)  (2,235)  (31,463)  (11,628) (45,852)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2007  2,153  141  10,271  30,697  43,262

As at 31 March 2008  2,308  2,176  13,344  13,192  31,020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

16. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT
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  Company 

 Freehold  Leasehold   Equipment

 Land and  Improvements  Plant and  under fi nance

 Buildings  Buildings  Equipment  Lease

 (at cost)  (at cost)  (at cost)  (at cost)  TOTAL

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2006  2,305  231  16,139  17,292  35,967

Additions  6  47  2 ,247  8,243  10,543

Disposals  -  -  (2,829)  (1,098)  (3,927)

Acquisitions through business combinations  -  -  -  -  -

Transfers  -  -  4,451  (4,451)  -

Balance at 31 March 2007  2,311  278  20,008  19,986  42,583

Additions  242  50  5,158  3,389  8,839

Disposals  -  -  (3,135)  (157)  (3,292)

Transfers  -  -  2,016  (2,016)  - 

Balance at 31 March 2008  2,553  328  24,047  21,202  48,130

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2006  (360)  (124)  (13,211)  (8,372)  (22,067)

Disposals  -  -  2,621  997  3,618

Depreciation expense  (65)  (39)  (2,248)  (3,696)  (6,048)

Transfers  -  -  (3,808)  3,808  -

Balance at 31 March 2007  (425)  (163)  (16,646)  (7,263)  (24,497)

Disposals  - -  2,572  112  2,684

Depreciation expense  (50)  (45)  (2,864)  (3,860)  (6,819)

Transfers  -  -  (1,465)  1,465  -

Balance at 31 March 2008  (475)  (208)  (18,403)  (9,546)  (28,632)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2007  1,886  115  3,362  12,723  18,086

As at 31 March 2008  2,078  120  5,644  11,656  19,498

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Aggregated depreciation allocated, whether

recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of

the carrying amount of other assets during the year:

Freehold land and buildings  59  73  50  65

Leasehold improvements  451  68  45  39

Plant and equipment  6,940  4,261  2,864  2,248

Equipment under fi nance lease  7,352  6,878  3,860  3,696

  14,802  11,280  6,819  6,048

Current Value of Freehold Land and Buildings

Value of freehold land and buildings determined in

accordance with independent valuations on the basis

of current market buying values, performed in 2007.  6,827  6,827  6,095  6,095

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Temporary differences attributable to:-

Parent entity   4,430  4,045  4,430  4,045

Entities in the tax consolidated group  10,526  660  -  -

Other - overseas subsidiaries  390  333  -  -

  15,346  5,038  4,430  4,045

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (393)  -  -  -

  14,953  5,038  4,430  4,045

18. GOODWILL

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  9,428  9,378  -  -

Additional amounts recognised from business

combinations occurring during the year  189,939  50  -  -

Balance at end of fi nancial year  199,367  9,428  -  -

(i) During the fi nancial year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of

goodwill, and determined that the carrying amount of goodwill was not impaired.

Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing

purposes to the following groups of cash-generating units:

Workforce and Marine  189,939  -  -  -

Property Maintenance  2,335  2,335  -  -

Facilities Management  7,093  7,093  -  -

  199,367  9,428  -  -

Workforce and Marine

The aggregate recoverable amount for the Workforce and Marine divisions is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash fl ow projections based on the 

fi nancial budget for the 2008 fi nancial year approved by management then extrapolated for a further fi ve years.

The cash fl ow projections are also based on compound growth rates of 10.0% p.a. and also include a terminal value calculated without allowing for any growth in revenue or 

profi ts beyond fi ve years. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of cash generating units.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

 Property Maintenance

  The aggregate recoverable amount for the Property Maintenance division is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash fl ow projections based on the 

fi nancial budget for the 2008 fi nancial year approved by management then extrapolated for a further fi ve years. 

The cash fl ow projections are also based on compound growth rates of 10.0% p.a. and also include a terminal value calculated without allowing for any growth in revenue or 

profi ts beyond fi ve years. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating units. 

Facilities Management

The aggregate recoverable amount for the Facilities Management division is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash fl ow projections based on the 

fi nancial budget for the 2008 fi nancial year approved by management then extrapolated for a further fi ve years.

The cash fl ow projections are also based on compound growth rates of 10.0% p.a. and also include a terminal value calculated without allowing for any growth in revenue or 

profi ts beyond fi ve years. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating units.

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Consolidated Value of long-term 

contracts acquired

Value of development 

software

Value of brands Total

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Additions during the year
3,037

8,066

3,037

-

1,638

309

1,326

312

-

8,717

-

-

4,675

17,092

4,363

312

Balance at end of fi nancial year

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Amortisation for the year

Balance at end of fi nancial year

11,103

(1,380)

(3,164)

(4,544)

3,037

(870)

(510)

(1,380)

1,947

(1,273)

(181)

(1,454)

1,638

(1,196)

(77)

(1,273)

8,717

-

(150)

(150)

-

-

-

21,767

(2,650)

(3,495)

(6,148)

4,675

(2,066)

(587)

(2,653)

Net book value

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Balance at end of fi nancial year

1,657

 6,559

2,167

 1,657

365

493

130

 365

-

 8,567

-

-

2,022

 15,619

2,297

2,022

Company 2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

2008

$’000

2007

$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Additions during the year

3,037

265

3,037

-

1,629

317

1,326

303

-

-

-

-

4,666

582

4,363

303

Balance at end of fi nancial year

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Amortisation for the year

Balance at end of fi nancial year

3,302

(1,380)

(510)

(1,890)

3,037

(870)

(510)

(1,380)

1,946

(1,271)

(181)

(1,452)

1,629

(1,196)

(75)

(1,271)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,248

(2,651)

(691)

(3,342)

4,666

(2,066)

(585)

(2,651)

Net book value

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year

Balance at end of fi nancial year

1,657

 1,412

2,167

 1,657

358

494

130

 358

-

 -

-

 -

2,015

 1,906

2,297

 2,015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008



53

  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Aggregated amortisation allocated, whether

recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of

the carrying amount of other assets during the year:

Value of long-term contracts acquired  3,164  510  510  510

Value of development software  181  77  181  75

Value of identifi able intangibles  150  -  -  -

  3,495  587  691  585

20. CONTRACTS AND WORK IN PROGRESS AT RECOVERABLE VALUE

Contracts in Progress

Balance at beginning of year  166,341  156,806  98,717  96,544

Increase in amounts recoverable (Note 2)  9,904 8,323  481  2,173

Effect of foreign currency movements  (3,350) 1,212  -  -

Balance at end of year  172,895 166,341 99,198 98,717

Shown in the fi nancial statements as:

Current (Note 7)   70,605  68,713  45,176  45,690

Non-Current (Note 13)  102,290  97,628  54,022  53,027

  172,895  166,341  99,198  98,717

Work in Progress

Balance at beginning of year  21,095  20,132  15,141  17,488

Increase/(decrease) in amounts recoverable (Note 2)  4,119  804  5,207  (2,347)

Effect of foreign currency movements  20  159  -  - 

Balance at end of year  25,234  21,095  20,348  15,141

Shown in the fi nancial statements as:

Current (Note 8)   17,593  10,700  15,258  8,104

Non-Current (Note 14)  7,641  10,395  5,090  7,037

  25,234  21,095  20,348  15,141

Total Contracts and Work in Progress at Recoverable Value

Current   88,198  79,413  60,434  53,794

Non-Current   109,931  108,023  59,112  60,064

  198,129  187,436  119,546  113,858

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables   51,564  15,808  13,447  8,097

Accruals and sundry creditors  70,499  22,044  23,477  15,249

  122,063  37,852  36,924  23,346

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (2,621)  -  -  -

  119,442  37,852  36,924  23,346

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables. The Group has fi nancial risk management policies

in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.
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22. BORROWINGS Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Unsecured - at amortised cost 

Current

Bank overdraft   1,564  -  1,564  -

Bank loan  (i)  32,975  296  33,000  296

Non-current

Bank loan  (ii)  160,955  -  160,955  -

Secured - at amortised cost

Current

Bank overdraft  (iii)  2,051  5,113  -  3,727

Finance lease liabilities  (iv)  8,826  7,448  4,716  4,033

Non-current

Bank loan  (v), (vi)  7,197  60,097  -  50,000

Finance lease liabilities  (iv)  21,768  23,775  9,064  10,583

  235,336  96,729  209,299  68,639

Borrowings directly associated with assets

classifi ed as held for sale (Note 35)  (15,395)  -  -  -

  219,941  96,729  209,299  68,639

Disclosed in the fi nancial statements as:

Current borrowings   42,518  12,857  39,280  8,056

Non-current borrowings   177,423  83,872  170,019  60,583

  219,941  96,729  209,299  68,639 

Summary of borrowing arrangements:

(i)  Working capital facility provided by the Westpac Banking Corporation. The current weighted average interest rate is 7.55% (2007: 6.41%).

(ii)  Senior credit facility provided by the Westpac Banking Corporation. The current weighted average interest rate is 7.90% (2007: 6.41%).

(iii)    The Yorkshire Bank Plc holds a Mortgage over a property in Manchester, United Kingdom to secure advances under a working capital facility denominated in United  

Kingdom pounds to Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited.

(iv)    Secured by the assets leased. The borrowings are at a fi xed rate with varying maturity periods not exceeding 7 years. The current weighted average effective interest 

rate is 8.08% (2007: 7.36%).

(v)   The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered fi rst party Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited (NZ) as security for 

advances made under a credit line facility denominated in New Zealand dollars. The current weighted average interest rate on bills drawn under this facility is 9.35% 

(2007: 8.65%).

(vi)    The Westpac Banking Corporation holds an Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited as security for advances made 

under a revolving credit line facility denominated in United Kingdom pounds. The current weighted average interest rate on bills drawn under this facility is 7.01% 

(2007: 5.46%).

23. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Attributable to:-

Parent entity   (937)  488  (937)  488

Entities in the tax consolidated group (Note 3)  1,778 1,448  1,778  1,448

Other   435  461  -  -

Income tax payable   1,275  2,397  841 1,936
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  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Current

Employee benefi ts   11,483  9,644  8,188 7,872

Deferred consideration on acquisition of business combinations  672  -  -  -

Other   200  -  -  -

  12,355  9,644  8,188  7,872

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (903)  -  -  -

  11,452  9,644  8,188  7,872

Non-current

Employee benefi ts   6,806  1,868  2,018  1,701

Deferred consideration on acquisition of business combinations  1,471  -  -  -

  8,277  1,868  2,018  1,701

Classifi ed as part of a discontinuing operation (Note 35)  (121)  -  -  -

  8,156  1,868  2,018  1,701

Anticipated legal settlement costs

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  -  1,683  -  1,683

Additional provision recognised/(used) during the year  -  (1,683)  -  (1,683)

Balance at end of fi nancial year   -  -  -  -

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Temporary differences attributable to:-

Parent entity   38,901  36,186  38,901  36,186

Entities in the tax consolidated group (Note 3)  1,770  211  -  -

Other - overseas subsidiaries   18,167  18,647  -  - 

Deferred income tax   58,838  55,044  38,901  36,186 

26. LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Liabilities related to the industrial services business (Note 35)  19,040  -  -  -

  19,040  -  -  -

27. ISSUED CAPITAL

90,013,394 fully paid ordinary shares  136,057  27,290  136,057  27,290 

(2007: 71,195,705)

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the company does not 

have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 
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   Consolidated Company

  2008  2007

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares No.’000  $’000 No.’000  $’000

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  71,196  27,290  71,160  27,198

Issue of shares under superseded

share option scheme (Note 6)   -  -  36  92

Issue of shares as part consideration for

acquisition of business (Note 4)   18,817  108,767  -  -

Balance at end of fi nancial year   90,013  136,057  71,196  27,290

Performance rights and performance options granted under the employee long term incentive plan

In accordance with the provisions of the employee long term incentive plan, as at 31 March 2008, executives and senior employees have been granted performance rights and/

or performance options. Both performance rights and performance options granted under the employee long term incentive plan carry no rights to dividends and no voting 

rights. Further details of the employee long term incentive plan are contained in Note 6 to the fi nancial statements.

28. RESERVES

  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Foreign currency translation reserve (792)  1,363  -  -

Capital profi ts reserve   5,535  5,535  5,535  5,535

Equity-settled employee benefi ts reserve  703  -  703  -

  5,446  6,898  6,238  5,535

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  1,363  441  -  -

Translation of foreign operations   (2,155)  922  -  -

Balance at end of fi nancial year   (792)  1,363  -  -

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies

of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars are brought

to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve,

as described in Note 1(f).

Capital profi ts reserve

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  5,535  5,535  5,535  5,535

Balance at end of fi nancial year   5,535  5,535  5,535  5,535

The capital profi ts reserve relates to profi ts realised

on the sale of non-current assets.

Equity-settled employee benefi ts reserve

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  -  -  -  -

Acquisition of business combination  154  -  154  -

Equity-settled non cash share based payments  549  -  549  -

Balance at end of fi nancial year   703  -  703  -

The equity-settled employee benefi ts reserve arises on the grant of performance rights and performance options to executives and senior employees under the ‘’Long Term 

Incentive Plan’. Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the performance options and performance rights are exercised.

Further information about the share-based payments is made in Note 6 to the fi nancial statements.
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  Consolidated Company

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  102,457  92,870  53,248  53,980

Profi t from ordinary activities after  28,422  22,399  2,551  12,080

related income tax expense

Dividends provided for or paid (Note 39)  (17,552) (12,812)  (17,552)  (12,812)

Balance at end of fi nancial year   113,327  102,457  38,247  53,248

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

Leasing arrangements

The hire purchase and fi nance lease arrangements are generally made for a

three year period and are secured by a charge over the related assets.

The consolidated entity and the company have the option to purchase the

related assets at the conclusion of the fi nance leases.

Finance lease liabilities:

No later than 1 year   9,701  9,491  5,492  5,033

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  22,628  25,789  9,622  11,039

Later than 5 years   2,328  250  -  250

Minimum future lease payments 1  34,657  35,530  15,114  16,322

Less future fi nance charges   (4,063)  (4,307)  (1,334)  (1,706)

Present Value of minimum lease payments  30,594  31,223  13,780  14,616

Included in the fi nancial statements as:

Current borrowings (Note 22)   8,826  7,448  4,716  4,033

Non-current borrowings (Note 22)  21,768  23,775  9,064  10,583

  30,594  31,223  13,780  14,616

1 Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all lease 

payments and any guaranteed residual.

31. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and Equipment

Not longer than 1 year   2,241  641  522  425

(b) Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

Not later than 1 year   2,647  2,430  1,078  920

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  3,023  3,333  1,111  1,510

  5,670  5,763  2,189  2,430

  7,911  6,404  2,711  2,855

The operating leases relate to offi ce and warehouse facilities with lease terms not exceeding fi ve years. Most of the leases have options to extend for further periods of similar 

duration, with market review clauses in the event that the consolidated entity and the company exercise the options to renew. The consolidated entity and the company do not 

have the option to purchase the related assets at the expiry of the lease period.

(c) Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 30.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the 

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

Operating cash fl ows are used to maintain and grow existing services, as well as to make the routine outfl ows of tax, dividends and repayment of maturing debt. The Group 

borrows centrally to meet anticipated funding requirements.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2007.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 22, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of 

the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Notes 27, 28 and 29 respectively.

(b) Categories of fi nancial instruments

 Consolidated  Company

  2008  2007  2008  2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Financial Assets

 Cash and cash equivalents  4,213  5,213  646  4,316

 Loans and receivables  180,457  74,621  49,053  47,544

Financial Liabilities

 Amortised cost  357,399  134,581  246,222  91,985

(c) Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the business by co-ordinating access to fi nancial markets and monitoring and managing fi nancial risks. These risks 

include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash fl ow interest rate risk.

(d) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the fi nancial risk of changes in interest rates. The corporate treasury group monitors interest rate trends and has evaluated a variety 

of derivative fi nancial instruments to assist and manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. Whilst the Group has not entered into any fi nancial derivative contracts at 31 

March 2008, it has since entered into an interest rate swap trransaction with the Westpac Banking Corporation to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates. The corporate treasury 

group concluded that, at this time the appropriate model was to hedge 60% of $210,000 thousand of debt for two years and reducing to 20% in the third year.

(e) Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fl uctuations arise. The Group has not entered into any forward 

exchange contracts at 31 March 2008. The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date is as 

follows:

 Liabilities Assets

  2008  2007  2008  2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

 NZ dollars  27,207  26,294  79,972  70,168

 UK pounds  15,911  16,169  18,660  14,093

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to New Zealand dollars and British pounds. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian 

dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding intercompany foreign denominated balances and adjusts their translation at the 

period-end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number indicates an increase in profi t or loss and other equity where the Australian dollar strengthens against 

the respective currency. For a weakening of the Australian dollar against the respective currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profi t and the balances 

below would be negative.

 NZ dollars  UK pounds

 Consolidated  Company  Consolidated  Company

  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Profi t or loss   13  39  13  39  300  242  300  242

Other equity
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(f) Interest rate risk management

The company and the Group are exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fi xed and fl oating interest rates.

Hedging options and products are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and defi ned risk appetite.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for debt instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place 

at the beginning of the fi nancial year and held constant throughout the reporting period.

At reporting date, if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s: - net profi t would increase by $729 thousand 

and decrease by $729 thousand (2007: increase by $171 thousand and decrease by $171 thousand). The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current 

period mainly due to the increase in variable rate debt.

(g) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 

with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining suffi cient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of fi nancial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts 

with entities that are rated favourably by independent rating agencies and if not available the Group uses publicly available fi nancial information and its own trading record 

to rate its major customers. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is 

performed on the fi nancial condition of accounts receivable.

The Group does not have any signifi cant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid 

funds and derivative fi nancial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 

Except as detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained:

 Maximum credit risk

  2008  2007

 Financial assets and other credit exposures  $’000  $’000

 Consolidated

 Guarantee provided by subsidiaries  -  -

 Company

 Guarantee provided under a deed of cross guarantee  15,395  15,458

  15,395  15,458

(h) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the 

management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, 

banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash fl ows and matching the maturity profi les of fi nancial assets and liabilities. 

Included in Note 34(c) is a listing of additional undrawn facilities that the company/Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

(h) Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity and interest rate tables

The following tables detail the company’s and the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative fi nancial liabilities. The tables have been compiled on 

the undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal 

cash fl ows.

Consolidated  Weighted  

 average   3 months

 effective Less than  to

 interest rate  1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years

 %  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000

2008

Non-interest bearing  - 95,879  25,543  641  -  -

Finance lease liability  8.08  918  1,656  7,127  22,628  2,328

Variable interest rate instruments  - Bank overdraft  10.25  3,615  -  -  -  -

 - Bank loans  9.12  -  33,379  -  192,609  -

  100,412  60,578  7,768  215,237  2,328

2007

Non-interest bearing  - 29,536  8,082  233  -  -

Finance lease liability  7.36  790  1,634  7,067  24,301  1,738

Variable interest rate instruments  - Bank overdraft  8.15  5,113  -  -  -  -

 - Bank loans  5.26  -  -  62,207  -  -

  35,439  9,716  69,507  24,301  1,738

At the year end it was not probable that the counterparty to the fi nancial guarantee contract will claim under the contract. Consequently, the amount included above is nil.

Company  Weighted  

 average   3 months

 effective Less than  to

 interest rate  1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years

 %  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000

2008

Non-interest bearing  -  28,257 8,025  641  -  -

Finance lease liability  8.08  546  957  3,989  9,622 -

Variable interest rate instruments  - Bank overdraft  10.25  1,564  -  -  -  -

 - Bank loans  9.12  -  33,404  -  192,609  -

 - 30,367  42,386  4,630  202,231  -

2007

Non-interest bearing  - 17,931  5,181  233  -  -

Finance lease liability  7.70  390  870  3,773  11,039  250

Variable interest rate instruments  - Bank overdraft  9.00  3,727  -  -  -  -

 - Bank loans  6.41  -  -  52,110  -  -

  22,048  6,051  56,116  11,039  250

At the year end it was not probable that the counterparty to the fi nancial guarantee contract will claim under the contract. Consequently, the amount included above is nil.
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(h) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

(i) Fair value of fi nancial instruments

The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities are determined as follows:

- the fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted 

market prices

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the fi nancial statements approximates their 

fair values.

33. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

 Consolidated Company

 2008  2007  2008  2007

 $  $ $  $

(a) Auditor of parent entity

Auditing or review of the fi nancial report  443,516  207,748  134,250 144,406

Auditing the fi nancial report of Integrated Group Limited - 30 June 2007 140,900 - - -

Other services 1,350 650 675 650

 585,766 208,398 134,925 145,056

(b) Other Auditors

Auditing the fi nancial report  108,750  100,058  -  -

Other services - Taxation advice in New Zealand 66,955  22,615  -  -

 175,705 122,673  -  -

 761,471 331,071  134,925 145,056

The auditor of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

34. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the cash fl ow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and investment in money market instruments net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fi nancial year as shown in the cash fl ow statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as 

follows:

 Consolidated Company

 2008  2007  2008  2007
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Cash and cash equivalents  4,044  5,213  646  4,316

Bank overdraft (Note 22) (3,615)  (5,113)  (1,564)  (3,727)

 429  100  (918)  589

Cash and cash equivalents attributable to

discontinuing operations (Note 35)  169  -  -  -

 598  100  (918)  589
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 Consolidated Company

(b) Financing facilities   2008  2007  2008  2007

1. Credit standby arrangements   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

(a)  Secured loan acceptance facilities with various

maturity dates.

 - amount used  7,197  60,097  -  50,000

 - amount unused  2,085  - -  -

  9,282 60,097  -  50,000

(b)  Unsecured loan acceptance facilities with various maturity dates.

 - amount used  193,955  -  193,955  -

 - amount unused  16,045  -  16,045  -

  210,000  -  210,000  -

(c)  Secured bank overdraft facilities with various

maturity dates, payable at call.

 - amount used  2,051 5,113 -  3,727

 - amount unused  1,176  673  -  (2,727)

  3,767 5,786  -  1,000

(d)  Unsecured bank overdraft facilities with various

maturity dates, payable at call.

 - amount used  1,564  - 1,564 -

 - amount unused  1,936  -  1,936 -

  3,500  -  3,500  -

2. Bank guarantee loan facilities

 - amount used  5,022  2,029  290  1,940

 - amount unused  1,378  921  4,710  560

   6,400  2,950  5,000  2,500
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

34. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) Consolidated Company

   2008  2007  2008  2007

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

(c)  Reconciliation of profi t for the period to

net cash fl ows from operating activities

Profi t for the period   28,422  22,399  2,551  12,080

(Gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets  (2,366)  (708)  (289)  (477)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  18,297  11,867  7,510  6,633

Interest income received and receivable  (834)  (254)  (431)  (185)

(Increase)/Decrease in current tax assets  2,585  (2,086)  -  -

Increase/(Decrease) in current tax liability  (4,559)  45  (1,144)  (1,137)

Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax balances  (596)  4,160  2,330  1,090

Increase/(Decrease) in amount due under tax funding arrangement - - (5,569) (1,264)

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from

acquisition and disposal of businesses:

Non-cash share based payments   502  -  502  -

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

current receivables   (46,757)  (11,793)  (3,692)  (5,793)

current inventories   (12,519)  1,145  (11,154)  1,602

other current assets   1,697  (114)  1,632  (68)

non-current receivables   (2,597)  (6,025)  1,705  (1,925)

non-current inventories   2,922  (2,579)  2,043  (457)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

current payables   39,149  1,930  11,599  (647)

current provisions   3,929  (837)  317  (1,232)

non-current trade payables   -  (372)  -  (283)

non-current provisions   541  -  316  -

Net cash provided by operating activities  27,816  16,778  8,289  10,211

(d) Non-cash fi nancing and investing activities

Aggregate amount of property, plant and equipment acquired 

during the fi nancial year by entering into hire purchase agreements

and fi nance leases. These acquisitions are not refl ected in the cash fl ow statement.  7,694  17,573  3,389  8,243
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(e) Businesses acquired  

  Name of business acquired Principal  Date of  Portion of 

   Activity Acquisition Shares  Cost ofAcquisition

     acquired 

     (%) $’000

   Work Force

2008 Integrated Group Limited  Management   07/06/2007  100%   202,455

 Black and White Recruitment Solutions Labour Hire   28/09/2007  N/A   3,906

 Genesis Recruitment Labour Hire   30/11/2007  N/A   3,749

2007   The amount paid in the previous fi nancial year related to stamp duty assessed on the acquisition of Tungsten Group Pty Limited on the 10/10/2005.

The fi nancial details of these acquisitions are:- Consolidated Company 

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consideration

Cash and cash equivalents   101,342 50  93,689 50

Fair value of net assets acquired

Current assets

 Cash  3,495 -  3,495 -

 Receivables  78,208  -  78,208  -

 Inventories  523 -  523 -

Non-current assets

 Property, plant & equipment  7,684 -  7,528 -

 Deferred tax asset  7,371 -  7,371 -

 Intangibles  16,486  16,486 -

Current liabilities 

 Payables  (47,800) -  (47,800) -

 Bank overdraft  (30,658) - (30,658) -

 Borrowings  (293)  -  (293) -

 Current tax payables  (2,404)  -  (2,404) -

 Provisions  (2,343)  -  (2,343) -

Non-current liabilities

 Borrowings  (3,502) -  (3,502) -

 Deferred tax liabilities  (1,836) -  (1,836) -

 Provisions  (4,314) -  (4,314) -

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired  206,917 -  206,761 -

Goodwill on acquisition

Total cost of acquisitions   210,109 50 202,455 50

Less: Net assets acquired   20,617  - 20,461 -

Goodwill on acquisition   189,492 50  181,994 50

Net cash outfl ow on acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents consideration  101,342 50  93,689 50

Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  34,153  - 34,153  -

  67,189  50  59,536  50
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

35. DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS

Plan to dispose of industrial services business, Barry Bros Specialised Services Pty Limited.

The company has entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement for the sale of the industrial services business, Barry Bros Specialised Services Pty Limited. Subject to 

completion of the conditions in the Heads of Agreement (including satisfactory completion of due diligence), the business is expected to be sold for $25 miliion, with completion 

targeted for 1 July 2008.

  2008 2007 

Profi t for the year from discontinuing operations: $’000 $’000

Revenue   39,746  33,631

Other Income   39  147

Raw materials and consumables used  (2,413)  (2,212)

Employee benefi ts expenses   (18,162)  (14,391)

Sub Contractor expenses   (2,926)  (3,352)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (4,251)  (3,728)

Finance costs   (1,253)  (1,272)

Equipment and motor vehicle costs  (5,613)  (4,474)

Information technology and telecommunications costs  (333)  (308)

Other expenses   (3,086)  (2,238)

Profi t before income tax expense  1,748  1,803

Income tax expense   (588)  (566)

Profi t from discontinuing operations  1,160  1,237

Cash fl ows from discontinuing operations:

Net cash fl ows provided by operating activities  5,561  4,562

Net cash fl ows used in investing activities  (2,083)  (1,927)

Net cash fl ows used in fi nancing activities  (3,325)  (2,329)

Net cash fl ows   153  306

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classifi ed

as held for sale at balance date are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents   169  -

Trade and other receivables   5,337  -

Inventories   88  -

Other assets  760  -

Property, plant and equipment   20,861  -

Deferred tax assets   393  -

Total assets classifi ed as held for sale  27,608  -

Trade and other payables   (2,621)  -

Borrowings   (15,395)  -

Provisions   (1,024)  -

Total liabilities associated with assets classifi ed as held for sale  (19,040)  -

Net assets classifi ed as held for sale  8,568  -

Consolidated
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Name of Entity  Note  Country of Incorporation   Ownership Interest

    2008  2007

    %  %

Parent Entity
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited   Australia
Controlled Entities
Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited  (i), (ii)  Australia   100  100
Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited   New Zealand   100  100
PMS Share Schemes Administration Pty. Ltd.  (i)  Australia   100  100
PMS Building Services Pty. Ltd.  (i)  Australia   100  100
Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Whittle Painting Group Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Whittle Painting Northern Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Whittle Painting Nottingham Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Bonds Painting Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Brian Parry Limited   United Kingdom   100  100
Tungsten Group Pty. Limited  (i)  Australia   100  100
Your Force Pty. Ltd.  (i)  Australia   100  100
Integrated Group Limited  (i), (ii)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Parramatta Warehousing Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Liverpool Industrial Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Parramatta Industrial Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Liverpool Warehousing Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Parramatta Services Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Liverpool Engineering Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Lismore Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Offi ce Personnel Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Industrial Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Labour Network Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Industrial Personnel Company Pty. Ltd.  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Alexandria No. 1 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Alexandria No. 2 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Liverpool Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Alexandria No. 3 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Parramatta Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Blacktown No. 1 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Blacktown No. 2 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Blacktown No. 3 Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Group Employment Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Maintenance Services Pty Ltd  (i), (ii)  Australia   100  -
Sea Wolves Pty. Ltd.  (i), (ii)  Australia   100  -
Total Marine Services Pty Ltd  (i), (ii)  Australia   100  -
Total Provider Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Total Venture Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Total Resources Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Total Shipping Services Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Total Marine Services (Asia) Pte. Ltd.   Singapore   100  -
Integrated Warehousing Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Manufacturing Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Stores Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated General Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Trades Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Recruitment Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Offi ce Professionals Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -
Integrated Group (NZ) Limited   New Zealand   100  -
Wendell Catering Services Limited   New Zealand   100  -
Wendell Offshore Services Limited   New Zealand   100  -
Artel Corporation Limited   New Zealand   100  -
Hi- Point Personnel Pty Ltd  (i)  Australia   100  -

NOTES

(i)  These subsidiares are members of the tax consolidated group, with Programmed Maintenance Services Limited being the head entity within the tax consolidated group.

(ii)   These subsidiares have entered into a deed of cross guarantee with Programmed Maintenance Services Limited pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 and are relieved 

from the requirement to prepare and lodge an audited fi nancial report.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

36. CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

The consolidated income statement and balance sheet of the entities party to the deed of cross guarantee are:

  2008 2007 

  $’000 $’000

Income statement
 Revenue  682,042  196,390
 Other income  3,642  477
 Changes in inventories of fi nished goods    
 and work in progress at cost 4,088  (22)
 Raw materials and consumables used  (19,578)  (17,169)
 Employee benefi ts expenses  (518,770)  (91,559)
 Sub Contractor expenses  (68,258)  (44,979)
 Depreciation and amortisation expense  (11,844)  (6,633)
 Finance costs (14,722)  (4,344)
 Equipment and motor vehicle costs  (7,583)  (6,973)
 Information technology and telecommunications costs  (2,129) (1,835)
 Impairment of non-current assets  (2,436)  -
 Other expenses  (27,797) (5,889)
 Profi t before tax  16,655  17,464
 Income tax expense (5,382)  (5,384)

 Profi t from continuing operations  11,273  12,080
 Profi t from discontinuing operations  1,160  1,237

 Profi t for the year  12,433  13,317

Balance sheet
 Current Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents  723  4,332
 Trade and other receivables  191,433  100,388 
 Inventories  25,955  1,340
 Other fi nancial assets  43,719  14,635
 Current tax assets  -  -
 Other current assets 2,609  3,340
  264,439  124,035
 Total assets classifi ed as held for sale  27,608  -
 Total Current Assets  292,047  124,035
 Non-Current Assets
 Trade and other receivables  63,070  53,295
 Inventories  5,090  7,036
 Other fi nancial assets  18,104  18,104
 Property, plant and equipment  25,002  38,956
 Deferred tax assets  13,524  4,441
 Goodwill  162,726  -
 Other intangible assets  38,389  2,015
 Total Non-Current Assets  325,905  123,847
 Total Assets  617,952  247,882
 Current Liabilities
 Trade and other payables  134,175  25,674
 Borrowings  39,280  11,105
 Current tax payables 5,384  1,935
 Provisions  9,929  8,696
  188,768  47,410
 Liabilities directly associated with total assets classifi ed as held for sale  19,040  -
 Total Current Liabilities  207,808  47,410
 Non-Current Liabilities
 Borrowings  170,019  72,992
 Deferred tax liabilities  40,064  36,368
 Provisions  6,349  1,751
 Total Non-Current Liabilities  216,432  111,111
 Total Liabilities  424,240  158,521
 Net Assets  193,712  89,361
 Equity
 Issued capital  136,057  27,290
 Reserves  6,238  5,535
 Retained earnings 1 51,417  56,536
 Total Equity  193,712  89,361

 
Consolidated
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  2008 2007 

  $’000 $’000

 1 Retained earnings
 Retained earnings as at beginning of the fi nancial year  56,536  56,031
 Net profi t  12,433  13,317
 Dividends provided for or paid  (17,552)  (12,812)

 Retained earnings as at end of the fi nancial year  51,417  56,536

37. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS

(a) Information on business segments - Primary

For management purposes the Group is organised into four major operating divisions - property maintenance, facilities management,
workforce and marine. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

The principal services of each division are as follows:
Property maintenance  -  provides property maintenance services to customers in the commercial, industrial, government and 

educational sectors in Australia, New Zealand and United Kingdom

Facilities management  - provides facility and infrastructure management services to customers across Australia 

Workforce  - supplier of recruitment and labour hire services across a broad range of sectors

 Marine  -  specialist provider of manning, project management and logistics solutions to the offshore oil and 
gas industry in Australia and New Zealand

During the year the directors announced a plan to sell the industrial services business.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by reportable operating segments for the periods under review:

Segment Revenues
  External Sales Inter-segment (i) Other Total

 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Continuing operations:
Property Maintenance 267,063 248,328 - - 68 57 267,131 248,385
Facilities Management  75,368 50,505 - - 600 24 75,968 50,529
Workforce 1  324,151 - 4,867 - - - 329,018 -
Marine 1  168,985 -  128  -  -  -  169,113 -
Other  -  -  -  -  219 200 219 200
Discontinuing operations:
Industrial Services  39,605  33,436  -  -  141  195  39,746  33,631

Total of all Segments  875,172  332,269  4,995  -  1,028  476  881,195  332,745
Eliminations        (4,995)  -
Unallocated        834  254
Consolidated Revenue        877,034  332,999

Inter-segment sales are recorded at amounts equal to the competitive market prices charged to external customers for similar services
1 Revenue includes 10 months’ results of Workforce and Marine following the company’s acquisition of Integrated Group Limited on7 June 2007.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

37. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Information on business segments - Primary (continued)

 

Segment Results  2008 2007 

  $’000 $’000

Continuing operations:

 Property Maintenance 30,285  33,449

 Facilities Management  2,955  2,907

 Workforce 1  8,714  -

 Marine 1  12,565  -

 Total of all Segments  54,519  36,356

 Non allocated amount of amortisation of identifi able intangible assets  (3,164)  (510)

 Profi t before interest and income tax expense  51,355  35,846

 Net borrowing and fi nancing charges  (15,001)  (5,096)

 Profi t before income tax expense  36,354  30,750

 Income tax expense  (9,092)  (9,588)

 Profi t for the year from continuing operations  27,262  21,162

Discontinuing operations:

 Industrial Services  3,001  2,927

 Net borrowing and fi nancing charges  (1,253)  (1,124)

 Profi t before income tax expense  1,748  1,803

 Income tax expense  (588)  (566)

 Profi t for the year from discontinuing operations  1,160  1,237

 Profi t for the year  28,422  22,399

1 Includes 10 months’ results of Workforce and Marine following the company’s acquisition of Integrated Group Ltd on 7 June 2007.

 
Consolidated 
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  Assets Liabilities

  2008 2007 2008 2007

  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets and liabilities

 Property Maintenance  284,080 276,170 43,004 36,015

 Facilities Management  42,271 28,454 26,564 14,196

 Industrial Services  30,169 29,154 3,651 3,203

 Workforce  196,218 - 46,644  -

 Marine  133,478 -  26,946 -

 Total of all Segments  686,215 333,778 146,809 53,414

 Eliminations  - - - -

 Unallocated  6,759 6,401 291,335 150,120

 Consolidated Total 692,974  340,179  438,144  203,534

Other Segment Information

  Property  Facilities  Industrial  Workforce  Marine  Other  Total

  Maintenance  Management  Services 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

2008

Acquisition of segment assets  9,682   1,386  4,335  9,729  859  - 25,991

Depreciation and amortisation of

segment assets   4,347  1,587  4,251  9,729  966  5,770  18,297

Other non-cash expenses  (411)  (2)  (30)  -  -  - (443)

2007

Acquisition of segment assets  3,764  397  1,066  -  -  -  5,227

Depreciation and amortisation of

segment assets   6,175 1,307 3,728  - -  657 11,867

Other non-cash expenses  (166)  36  208  -  -  -  78

(b) Information on business segments - Secondary

The consolidated entity operates in three geographic locations - Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets by geographical location is detailed below:

Revenue from

external customers

Segment assets Acquisition of

segment assets

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 774,844 266,495 584,843 237,768 24,329 3,556

New Zealand 71,068 40,420 80,809 77,987 773 1,115

United Kingdom 30,288 25,830 20,563 18,023 889 556

Other 834 254 6,759  6,401 - -

Consolidated Total 877,034 332,999 692,974 340,179 25,991 5,227

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Equity interests in controlled entities
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in the controlled entities are disclosed in Note 36 to the fi nancial statements.

(b) Key management personnel compensation

 The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the consolidated entity and the company is set out below, and has been subject to audit:

Details of the key management personnel compensation are disclosed in Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report on pages 19 to 27.

(c) Equity holdings of key management personnel

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Balance 

1.4.07 

No. 

Granted as 

compensation

No. 

Received 

on exercise 

of options 

No. 

Net 

other 

change 

No. 

Balance

31.3.08 

No. 

Balance

 held

nominally

No.

2008 

G. A. Tomlinson 75,744  - -  - 75,744 71,000

C. G. Sutherland -  -  - 495,040 495,040 -

M. J. Findlay 1,049,317  - - - 1,049,317 -

S. M. Oliver 27,035  - - (20,534) 6,501 6,501

B. J. Pollock 9,863  - - - 9,863 -

N. D. Hamilton 5,000 - - 259,445 264,445 243,360

J. G. Whittle - - - 1,834,656 1,834,656 1,693,358

I. H. Jones 28,535 - -  - 28,535 5,000

S. M.Leach - -  - - - -

M. P. Piwkowski 48,896  -  - -  48,896 -

J. Sherlock -  - - - - -

B. Styles  - - - - - -

S. Taylor - -  - - - -

G. Triggs - 11,248  - - 11,248 11,248

The movements shown for Messrs C.G. Sutherland, N.D. Hamilton and J.G. Whittle related to the merger with Integrated Group Limited by scheme

of arrangement, with the shares being issued on 7 June 2007.

Consolidated Company

2008

$

2007

$

2008

$

2007

$

Short term employment benefi ts 3,437,609 3,052,630 2,250,495 2,461,607

Post-employment benefi ts 370,838 354,492 241,409 301,519

Other long-term benefi ts - - - -

Termination benefi ts 569,091 - 569,091 -

Share -based payment 378,551 - 184,667 -

Totals 4,756,089 3,407,122 3,245,662 2,763,126
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(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited (continued) 

Balance 

1.4.06 

No. 

 Granted as 

compensation

No. 

Received 

on exercise

of options 

No. 

Net 

 other 

change 

No. 

Balance 

31.3.07 

No. 

Balance

held

nominally

No.

2007 

G. A. Tomlinson 146,744 -  - (71,000) 75,744 71,000

M. J. Findlay 1,049,317  - - - 1,049,317 -

S. M. Oliver 27,035 - - - 27,035 27,035

B. J. Pollock 9,863 - - - 9,863 -

N. D. Hamilton 5,000 -  - - 5,000 5,000

J. G. Whittle  - - - -  - -

I. H. Jones 28,535 -  - - 28,535 5,000

P. R. Warman 31,586 -  - - 31,586 -

M. P. Piwkowski 48,896  -  -  -  48,896  -

C. G. Sutherland - - - - - -

J. Sherlock - - 36,000  (36,000) - -

D. Shafar 34,504  - - - 34,504 -

S. Bell -  -  -  -  -  -

D. M. Maple 46,324  -  -  -  46,324 -

I. Lilley 5,000 -  -  -  5,000 -

N. G. Caigou 27,750 -  -  - 27,750 -

C. J. Hammond - - - -  - -

(ii) Performance rights issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited 

 Balance 

1.4.07 

No. 

Granted as 

compensation 

No. 

Exercised

No. 

Net

other 

change 

No. 

Balance

31.3.08 

No. 

 Balance

held

nominally

No.

2008 

G. A. Tomlinson  - - - -  - -

C. G. Sutherland -  180,000 - - 180,000 -

M. J. Findlay  -  -  - - - -

S. M. Oliver  - - - - - -

B. J. Pollock - - - - - -

N. D. Hamilton - - - - - -

J. G. Whittle -  - - -  - -

I. H. Jones - 60,000  -  -  60,000  -

S. M. Leach - 75,000 -  - 75,000 -

M. P. Piwkowski  - 75,000 -  - 75,000 -

J. Sherlock - 25,000 - - 25,000 -

B. Styles - 47,500 - - 47,500 -

S. Taylor - 35,000 - - 35,000 -

G. Triggs - 47,500 - - 47,500 -

No performance rights were issued in the previous fi nancial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c) Equity holdings of key management personnel (continued)

(iii) Performance options issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Balance 

1.4.07 

No. 

Granted as 

compensation 

No. 

Exercised

No.  

Net 

other 

change 

No. 

Balance

31.3.08 

No. 

Balance

 held

nominally

No.

2008 

G. A. Tomlinson -  -  -  -  -  -

C. G. Sutherland - 450,000 - -  450,000 -

M. J. Findlay  -  -  -  -  -  -

S. M. Oliver - - - -  -  -

B. J. Pollock -  -  -  -  -  -

N. D. Hamilton -  -  -  -  -  -

J. G. Whittle -  -  -  -  -  -

I. H. Jones - 50,000 -  -  50,000  -

S. M. Leach - 125,000 -  - 125,000 -

M. P. Piwkowski - 125,000 - - 125,000 -

J. Sherlock - 50,000  -  -  50,000 -

B. Styles - 100,000 - - 100,000 -

S. Taylor  - 100,000  -  -  100,000  -

G. Triggs - 100,000  -  -  100,000  -

No performance options were issued in the previous fi nancial year.

(iv) Share options issued under the superceded scheme by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

 No share options were issued in the current or previous fi nancial year.      

Balance

1.4.06

No.

Granted as

compensation

No.

Exercised

No.

Other

change

No.

Balance

31.3.07

No.

Balance

held

nominally

No.

2007

J. Sherlock 36,000 -  36,000 - - -

     

 (d) Other transactions with key management personnel

A director, Mr J G Whittle, is a director of Alltown Nominees Pty Ltd., which is the lessor of an offi ce building occupied by Integrated Group Limited. The rental agreement with 

Alltown Nominees Pty. Ltd. is based on normal commercial terms and conditions. The rental expense included in the consolidated result was $226,515 (2007 $ nil).

During the fi nancial year, the specifi ed directors, their director-related entities and the specifi ed executives purchased goods, which were domestic

or trivial in nature, from the company on the same terms and conditions available to other employees and customers.

(e) Transactions with entities in the Group

The wholly-owned group includes:-

- the ultimate Parent Entity in the wholly-owned group

- wholly-owned controlled entities

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Programmed Maintenance Services Limited.

Details of interest revenue derived by the parent entity from wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2(a) to the fi nancial statements. Details of interest expense 

in respect of transactions with wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2(b) to the fi nancial statements.

Amounts receivable from wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Notes 9 and 15 to the fi nancial statements.

Other transactions that occurred during the fi nancial year between entities in the wholly-owned group were:

- accounting and administrative services

- management fees

- reimbursement for expenses incurred



74

(f) Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include directors of related parties, their director-related entities and other related parties.

There were no transactions with other related parties that needed to be disclosed in Note 2(b) to the fi nancial statements in the current fi nancial year or in the previous 

fi nancial year. 

39. DIVIDENDS

    

Cents 

per 

Share

Total

$’000

Cents 

per

Share 

Total

$’000

Recognised 

Amounts

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Final Dividend

- franked to 100% (2007:100%) at 30% tax rate 10.0 9,001 9.5 6,760

Interim Dividend

- franked to 100% (2007: 100%) at 30% tax rate 9.5 8,551 8.5 6,052

17,552 12,812

Unrecognised 

Amounts

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Final Dividend

- franked to 100% (2006: 100%) at 30% tax rate 10.5 9,451 10.0 9,001

9,451 9,001

On the 28 May 2008 the directors declared a fully franked fi nal dividend of 10.5 cents per share in respect of the fi nancial year end 31 March 2008 to

be paid to shareholders on 24 July 2008. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $9,451 thousand.

     Company

     2008  2007

     $’000  $’000

Adjusted Franking Account Balance (tax paid basis)  13,465  3,118

Impact on franking account balance of dividends not recognised (4,050)  (3,858)

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

          Company

     2008  2007

     $’000  $’000

Guarantee by the company of bank overdraft of subsidiaries   3,767  5,786

Guarantee by the company of lease liabilities of Barry Bros Specialised Services Pty Limited   15,395  15,458

Bank guarantee loan facility    5,022  2,029

The company has provided performance and security guarantees to its bankers in accordance with certain contractual

requirements (Refer Notes 22 and 25).

The directors are not aware of any other contingent liabilities.

41. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in Note 22 to the fi nancial statements, certain assets of the consolidated entity held within New Zealand 

and the United Kingdom, have been pledged as security. The holders of the security do not have the right to sell or pledge the assets other than in the event of default.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

2008 2007
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42. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is a listed public company, incorporated in New South Wales and

operating in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Principal Registered Offi ce:   Level 3, 100 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, Victoria, 3205

Telephone: (03) 8676 5510

Principal Place of Business:   Level 3, 100 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, Victoria, 3205

Telephone: (03) 8676 5510

43. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 27 March 2008, Spotless Group Limited (“Spotless”), through its wholly owned subsidiary Spotless Investment Holdings Pty Ltd, announced its intention to make an offer 

for all of the shares it did not already own in the Company. Spotless issued an original Bidder’s Statement on 2 April 2008, followed by a supplementary Bidder’s Statement on 

18 April 2008.

In its ASX announcement released on 16 April 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors unanimously recommended that the Company’s shareholders reject the Spotless offer. In 

the Target’s Statement issued on 7 May 2008, the Board explained in detail the reasons for the recommendation to reject the offer.

The closing date of the offer was originally 26 May 2008, and this was extended by Spotless on 19 May 2008 to close on 13 June 2008. On 6 June 2008, Spotless advised that 

the offer would lapse on 13 June 2008. The Company currently expects that the total costs incurred in responding to the Spotless offer will be approximately $4 million.

On 16 April 2008, the Company announced a number of new initiatives that are focused on continuing the Company’s strong track record of earnings growth while expanding 

its range of services.

The Company has signed a non-binding Heads of Agreement to acquire SWG, a Western Australian based services company specialising in the provision of installation, minor 

capital works and maintenance services to the oil and gas and mining sectors. Headquartered in Bunbury with an offi ce in Perth, SWG provides services in Australia and Asia. 

The proposed acquisition of SWG will further expand the Company’s existing capabilities in both its Marine and Workforce divisions.

Consideration for the acquisition is approximately $7.5 million of the Company’s ordinary shares, and the acquisition is subject to completion of the Share Purchase Agreement.

No issues have arisen to date to suggest the acquisition will not be completed within the timescale contemplated. Further performance consideration will be paid, in the form 

of the Company’s ordinary shares, if average EBITA over the next three years exceeds $10 million. SWG is projected to earn $10 million in EBITA in the fi nancial year ending 31 

March 2009.

In addition to the proposed acquisition of SWG, the Company entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement for the sale of the industrial services business Barry Bros., to Tox 

Free Solutions Limited for $25 million, with completion targeted for 1 July 2008. The proceeds of the divestment will be used to reduce the Company’s borrowings.

The company has, since the end of the fi nancial year, entered into an interest rate swap transaction with the Westpac Banking Corporation to mitigate the risk of rising interest 

rates (Refer Note 32(d)).

Apart from the above, there has not been any matter or circumstance, that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly affected, or may signifi cantly 

affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future fi nancial years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors declare that:

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its a. 

debts as and when they become due and payable ;

In the directors’ opinion, the attached fi nancial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the b. 

Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 

the fi nancial position and performance of the company and the consolidated entity; and

 The directors have been given the declaration required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.c. 

 

At the date of the declaration, the company is within the class of companies affected by ASIC Class Order 

98/1418.  The nature of the deed of cross guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed 

guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in accordance with the deed of cross guarantee.

 

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company and the companies to which 

the ASIC Class Order applies, as detailed in note 38 to the fi nancial statements will, as a group, be able to meet 

any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee.

 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

 

 

On behalf of the Directors

C. G. Sutherland

Director

25 June 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES LIMITED
 We have audited the accompanying fi nancial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 31 March 2008, 
and the income statement, cash fl ow statement and statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended on that date, a summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the fi nancial year. 

We have also audited the compensation disclosures contained in the directors’ report. As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the company 
has disclosed information about the compensation of key management personnel (“compensation disclosures”) as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to 
Aus 25.7.2 of Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (“AASB 124”), under the heading “remuneration report” in section 4 of the 
Remuneration Report, and not in the fi nancial report.  These compensation disclosures are identifi ed in the directors’ report as being subject to audit.  The 
remuneration report also contains information  not subject to audit.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial report. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the fi nancial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 31 March 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on 
that date; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

G. J. McLean
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Melbourne, 25 June 2008

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

180 Lonsdale Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111
Tel:  +61 (0) 3 9208 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 3 9208 7001
www.deloitte.com.au
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25 June 2008

The Board of Directors

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

100 Dorcas Street

South Melbourne VIC 3205 

Dear Board Members

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of 
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the fi nancial statements of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2008, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

G. J. McLean
Partner 
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

180 Lonsdale Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111
Tel:  +61 (0) 3 9208 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 3 9208 7001
www.deloitte.com.au
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The board of directors guides and monitors the business and affairs of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited on behalf of its shareholders, by whom the directors are 

elected and to whom they are accountable.

This statement sets out the corporate governance practices that were in operation throughout the last fi nancial year, which substantially comply with the “Best Practice 

Recommendations” of the ASX Corporate Governance Council. Any instances of non-compliance with the recommendations are noted.

Respective roles of the board and management

The board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the consolidated entity, including engaging with management in the development of strategic plans, 

preparation of annual budgets, establishment of goals for management and monitoring the achievement of those goals on a regular basis.

The board is also responsible for:-

reviewing the performance of the Managing Director and senior management• 

planning the development, retention and succession of the management team• 

reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance, including approving and monitoring the policies and procedures relating to • 

occupational health and safety

approving and monitoring fi nancial and other reporting, including the progress of major capital expenditure and capital management• 

approving and monitoring acquisitions and divestitures• 

ensuring an informed market exists at all times in respect of the company• 

During the year, the Board reviewed the responsibilities of the board and the respective roles of the board and management as set out in the formal “Board Charter” that 

was prepared in the previous year. The board has established the Committees described below to assist in its responsibility, and each of these Committees has a formal 

Charter that is incorporated into the Board Charter. A summary of the Board Charter is posted on the company’s website.

Structure and composition of the board

The board consists of six directors, one executive director (the managing director) and fi ve nonexecutive directors. The fi ve non-executive directors are assessed as being 

independent directors, thereby complying with the recommendation that a majority of the board should be independent. The chairman is a non-executive, independent 

director and there is a clear division of responsibility between the chairman and the managing director.

In May 2003, the board determined to formally establish a nomination committee. Prior to May 2003, the board informally evaluated the board’s performance and 

determined the terms and conditions relating to the appointment and retirement of directors. The nomination committee has the responsibilities of:-

assessing the necessary and desirable competencies of board members • 

reviewing the board’s succession plans• 

evaluating the board’s performance• 

making recommendations for the appointment and removal of directors• 

If the nomination committee determined that a new non-executive director was required, the nomination committee would seek the most suitable person with an 

appropriate range of skills and expertise. The identifi ed individual would then stand for election at the next annual general meeting.

In June 2007, the Board decided to combine the nomination committee and the remuneration committee into one committee – refer below.

The non-executive directors are appointed for specifi c three year terms under the constitution of the company, and upon the expiry of the term are entitled to stand for 

re-election at the relevant annual general meeting.

In the proper performance of their duties, each director has the right to seek a reasonable level of independent professional advice on matters concerning the company at 

the company’s expense, after obtaining the chairman’s approval.

Ethical standards and code of conduct

The company has previously advised shareholders that it endorses the need for all directors, managers, offi ce and fi eld staff to maintain a high standard of behaviour and 

business ethics in our day-to-day business activities. The board has responsibility for developing and monitoring:-

• expectations with regard to ethical conduct
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periods during which directors may deal in the securities of the company and procedures for notifi cation of such dealing• 

procedures to be adopted in respect of potential confl icts of interest• 

procedures for prior approval of contracts with directors• 

The board has established a formal code of conduct that complies with the best practice recommendations regarding standards of ethical behaviour for directors, 

managers and staff, and also regarding compliance with legal and other obligations to non-shareholder stakeholders such as customers and the community as a whole. 

The code of conduct is posted on the company’s web site.

Financial reporting and audit committee

The managing director and the chief fi nancial offi cer have stated in writing to the Board that the company’s fi nancial statements for each annual and half-yearly report 

present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the company’s fi nancial condition and operating results.

The Board established a Board Audit and Compliance Committee in September 1999. In 2002, the name of the committee was changed to the Board Audit Compliance 

and Risk Management Committee.

Since inception, the membership of the Committee has comprised only non-executive independent directors, with the current membership being:

Brian John Pollock (Chair)• 

Neil Douglas Hamilton• 

Susan Mary Oliver• 

The Board has given consideration to the possible appointment of a qualifi ed accountant as a director.

The Board does not currently consider such an appointment is necessary as the non-executive directors, who comprise the Board Audit Compliance & Risk Management 

Committee, are fi nancially literate and have suffi cient public company experience in fi nancial matters.

The formal charter of the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management Committee includes the following roles and responsibilities:-

reviewing the half-yearly and annual fi nancial statements prior to their approval by the Board• 

monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and management information systems• 

liaising with the external auditors to ensure that statutory audits are conducted in an effective manner• 

monitoring compliance with the Corporations Law, Stock Exchange Listing Rules and other regulatory authorities and fi nancial institutions• 

reviewing of signifi cant areas of potential business and legal risk when they are identifi ed and determining procedures to manage these risks on a case-by-case • 

basis 

The number of meetings of the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management Committee, and the members’ attendance are disclosed each year in the Annual Report.

Timely and balanced disclosure

To ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and accountability at a senior management level for that compliance, the Board has established 

written policies and procedures that are incorporated into the code of conduct.

The current practice of the Board is to review and authorise any company announcement to ensure that the information is factual, timely, clearly expressed and contains 

all material information so that investors can make appropriate assessments of the information for investment decisions. All company announcements, and related 

information, such as fi nancial statements and public presentations, are placed on the company website, www.pmsgroup.com.au

The company is continuing to take advantage of technology, such as the company website, to provide greater opportunities for effective communication with shareholders. 

Following the recent introduction by the Australian Government of legislation allowing the default option for receiving annual reports to be via a company’s website, all 

shareholders were contacted in March 2008 and given the opportunity to request a printed annual report. Less than ten per cent of shareholders requested to continue to

receive a printed annual report following this communication.

With the assistance of our share registrar, shareholders are encouraged to register for the electronic receipt of all shareholder communications, including the notice of 

annual general meeting. Currently, almost twenty-fi ve per cent of shareholders are receiving the company’s communications via email notifi cation. The current practice of 

the company is to place on the website all company  announcements, and related information, such as fi nancial statements and public presentations.

Risk oversight and management

As described above, the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management Committee has responsibility to review signifi cant areas of potential business and legal risk, and 

to monitor the effectiveness of internal control and management information systems. In previous years, the managing director and the chief fi nancial offi cer have stated 

in writing to the board that the integrity of the fi nancial statements has been founded on a sound system of internal compliance and control.
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Remuneration practices

The Board established the Remuneration Committee in September 1999. The Remuneration Committee was combined with the Nomination Committee in June 2007 to 

form the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Since inception, the membership of the Committee has comprised only non-executive independent directors, with the 

current membership being:

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson (Chair)• 

Jonathan Gladstone Whittle• 

Brian John Pollock• 

The formal charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee includes the following roles and responsibilities:-

establishing appropriate remuneration levels and policies, including incentive policies, for senior executives• 

assessing that senior executives are being rewarded commensurate with their responsibilities• 

reviewing the recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for senior executives• 

reviewing and making recommendations on any incentive schemes for senior executives and management• 

reviewing the succession planning for the Managing Director, senior executives and management• 

The remuneration of the key management personnel of the company is disclosed in the Remuneration Report included each year in the Annual Report. The disclosure 

includes the salary, superannuation contributions, non-cash benefi ts and payments from incentive schemes. The remuneration of the non-executive directors is clearly 

distinguished from the managing director’s remuneration. Any equity based remuneration, such as the issue of share options, is made in accordance with the thresholds 

set in plans approved by shareholders.
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ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION AS AT 30 MAY 2008
NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 Ordinary Share Capital

90,013,394 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 6.025 individual shareholders. All ordinary shares of the Company carry one vote per share.

Options

There are 939,304 performance rights and 2,900,000 performance options outstanding.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Ordinary Shareholders Number of Ordinary Shares Percentage

Commonwealth Bank of Australia and associates 7,693,590 8.55%

Invesco Australia Investment Management Limited 7,634,443 8.48%

BT Investment Management Limited 6,516,393 7.24%

Perpetual Trustees Australia Limited and associates 5,549,983 6.17%

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES (ORDINARY SHARES – FULLY PAID)

Range No. of Holders

1 - 1,000 1,927

1,001 - 5,000 2,964        

5,001 - 10,000 742           

10,001 - 100,000 347

100,001 - over 45

TOTAL 6,025

  THE TWENTY LARGEST REGISTERED HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES 
(ORDINARY SHARES – FULLY PAID)

Name No. of Shares Percentages

1. National Nominees Limited 10,124,347 11.25%

2. J.P.Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 8,473,491 9.41%

3. HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  8,171,826 9.08%

4. RBC Dexia Investor Services Aust. Nominees Pty. Ltd. (PI Pooled A/c) 3,985,880 4.43%

5. Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited (CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c) 3,292,886 3.66%

6. Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited 3,161,383 3.51%

7. ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Income A/c) 2,718,541 3.02%

8. Spotless Investment Holdings Pty Ltd. (on Market Purchase A/c) 2,636,307 2.93%

9. Questor Financial Services Limited (TPS RF A/c) 2,514,530 2.79%

10. Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited (CFS Developing Companies A/c) 2,351,787 2.61%

11. Mr. J.G. Whittle & Mrs. L.B. Whittle (The J Whittle Family A/c) 1,693,358 1.88%

12 Brispot Nominees Pty. Ltd. (House Head Nominee NO. 1 A/c) 1,565,368 1.74%

13. Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited (CFSIL CFS WS Small Companies A/c) 1,540,050 1.71%

14. Australian Foundation Investment Co. Ltd. 1,362,543 1.51%

15. Argo Investments Limited 1,357,127 1.51%

16. The Australian National University 1,084,000 1.20%

17. RBC Dexia Investor Services Aust. Nominees Pty. Ltd.(PIIC A/c) 1,008,042 1.12%

18. Mirrabooka Investments Limited 1,000,000 1.11%

19. Mr. Maxwell John Findlay 1,000,000 1.11%

20. AMP Life Limited 946,488 1.05%

Top 20 Shareholders 59,987,954 66.64%

Number of holdings less than 

a marketable parcel: 96
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL STATISTICS
SINCE LISTING ON 1 OCTOBER 1999

EARNINGS SUMMARY *

Revenue from Ordinary Activities

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation

 and Amortisation (EBITDA) 

Earnings before Interest, Taxes and    

Amortisation of Identifi able Intangibles 

(EBITA) 

 Amortisation of Identifi able Intangibles

Earnings before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) 

 Net Interest Expense 

Profi t before Income Tax Expense 

 Income Tax Expense  

Profi t after Income Tax Expense  

Earnings per Share (pre-amortisation) - cents 

Basic Earnings per Share - cents  

Dividends Interim - cents per share

  Final - cents per share

  Dividends per Share - cents

  Dividend payout ratio

  Dividend franking

EBIT/ Revenue

Interest Cover  - times 

Average Tax rate

Growth in Profi t after Income Tax Expense 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 121,129  146,273  159,323  185,113  205,867  232,002  283,379  332,999  877,034 

 23,459  25,608  28,250  30,216  33,380  38,034  43,172  50,640 72,653 

18,175 19,857 21,738 23,598 26,591 30,286 34,376 39,283 57,520 

 -    -    -    -    -   (360) (510) (510) (3,164)

18,175 19,857 21,738 23,598 26,591 29,926 33,866 38,773 54,356 

(2,603) (3,111) (3,221) (3,144) (2,566) (3,128) (4,139) (6,219) (16,254)

15,572 16,746 18,517 20,454 24,025 26,798 29,727 32,554 38,102 

(5,453) (5,534) (6,030) (6,547) (7,734) (8,543) (9,556) (10,154) (9,680)

10,119 11,212 12,487 13,907 16,291 18,255 20,171 22,399 28,422 

 15.7  17.4  19.4  21.2 23.9  26.8 29.2  32.2 36.5

 15.7  17.4  19.4  21.2 23.9  26.3 28.5  31.5 32.9

 -    5.0  4.0  4.0 5.5 6.5 7.5 8.5 9.5

 5.0  4.0  4.0  5.0 6.5 8.5 9.5 10.0 10.5

 5.0  9.0  8.0  9.0  12.0  15.0  17.0  18.5  20.0 

32% 52% 41% 42% 50% 60% 60% 59% 61%

50% 81% 0% 41% 50% 100% 100% 100% 100%

15.0% 13.6% 13.6% 12.7% 12.9% 12.9% 12.0% 11.6% 6.2%

 7.0  6.4  6.7  6.5  10.4  9.6  8.2  6.2  3.3 

35.0% 33.0% 32.6% 32.0% 32.2% 31.9% 32.1% 31.2% 25.4%

19.9% 10.8% 11.4% 11.4% 17.1% 12.1% 10.5% 11.0% 26.9%
* -  Items in the Earnings Summary are shown on a consistent basis, and have been adjusted for “one-off” items, including adoption of A-IFRS from 1 April 2004.   

    - The consolidated entity’s fi nancial year ends 31 March 

    - The results for the year ended 31 March 208 include ten months’ contribution from Integrated Group following the merger on 7 June 2007    

    - The results for the year ended 31 March 2000 are for the full year, notwithstanding that the Company listed on 1 October 1999  
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ASSETS & LIABILITIES 

Cash  

Debtors  

Contract Recoverables  

Work in Progress  

Property Plant & Equipment  

Goodwill  

Other Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS  

Payables  

Borrowings  

Provisions  

Current tax payables  

Non-current tax liabilities  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  

TOTAL EQUITY

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 2,713  1,248  2,343  2,920  2,059  2,209  6,527  5,213  4,044 

 21,220  29,574  33,279  34,039  38,947  47,275  63,293  74,196  179,914 

 89,902  104,207  116,884  126,579  131,342  144,684  156,806  166,341  172,895 

 1,410  1,435  1,711  12,970  19,350  16,646  20,132  21,095  25,234 

 18,847  19,464  19,463  19,029  20,802  26,009  33,075  43,262  31,020 

 -    2,752  2,527  2,479  2,335  2,335  9,378  9,428  199,367 

 7,499  6,904  7,653  8,048  8,554  17,533  19,909  20,644  80,500 

 141,591  165,584  183,860  206,064  223,389  256,691  309,120  340,179  692,974 

 9,403  12,338  12,181  17,136  23,362  27,640  37,653  37,852  122,063 

 35,641  48,957  55,793  49,872  43,797  49,456  80,884  96,729  235,336 

 7,442  6,795  7,351  8,893  6,434  9,979  11,031  11,512  12,355 

 1,272  511  1,045  424  2,845  2,546  2,363 2,397  1,275 

 29,696  32,461  35,720  41,994  44,344  48,548  51,145  55,044  67,115 

 83,454  101,062  112,090  118,319  120,782  138,169  183,076  203,534  438,144 

 58,137  64,522  71,770  87,745  102,607  118,522  126,044  136,645  254,830 

OTHER FINANCIAL STATISTICS  

Number of shares on issue at Year End (millions)

Net Tangible Assets per Share

Net Debt to Equity  

Gross Operating Cashfl ows  ($’000)  

  

Share Price at 31 March  

Market Capitalisation at 31 March ($ millions)  

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 64.5  64.5  64.5  67.1  68.8  70.8  71.2  71.2  90.0 

$0.90 $0.96 $1.07 $1.27 $1.41 $1.60 $1.61 $1.76 $0.44 

57% 74% 74% 54% 41% 40% 59% 67% 91%

 9,016  8,937  10,200  18,535  21,504  21,521  18,335  31,288  57,089 

$1.65 $1.72 $2.33 $1.74 $2.60 $3.17 $3.61 $5.15 $5.20 

 106.4  110.9  150.3  116.8  178.9  224.5  256.9  366.7  468.0 

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL STATISTICS
SINCE LISTING ON 1 OCTOBER 1999 (CONTINUED)
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In my 25 years working life I’ve been through six mergers and acquisitions, the PMS/Integrated merger has been 
the most successful and best managed merger I’ve ever experienced and provided the opportunity to increase  
         effi ciencies and reduce costs though the introduction of shared services particularly in the area of ICT. 

   Mike Disbury, Group ICT Manager
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